IMMUNE RESPONSE OF THE RAT TO OUTER MEMBRANE

PROTEINS OF Legionella pneumophila

APPROVED:

Graduate	Committee:
	An Shansp
	Major Profiessor
	auter Som
	Minor Professor
	a. I. Kester
	Committee Member
	G. R. Sela
	Committe Member
	dan lice tio.
	Committée Mémber
	G Ao'Donoran
Chairper	son of the Department of Biological Sciences
	thigh Kirkpatsule
Dean of	the Graduate School

379 N81d N0.2355

IMMUNE RESPONSE OF THE RAT TO OUTER MEMBRANE PROTEINS OF Legionella pneumophila

DISSERTATION

Presented to the Graduate Council of the North Texas State University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Ву

Ejemihu Ndu Ahanotu, M. A.

Denton, Texas

August, 1985

Ahanotu, Ndu Ejemihu, <u>Immune Response of the Rat to</u> <u>Outer Membrane Proteins of</u> Legionella pneumophila. Doctor of Philosophy (Microbiology), August, 1985, 163 pp., 14 tables, bibliography, 225 titles.

Outer membrane proteins (OMPs) were recovered from eleven strains (eight serogroups) of Legionella pneumophila by sequential treatment with Tris buffer (pH 8), citrate buffer (pH 2.75) and Tris buffer (pH 8). Transmission electron microscopy revealed clearly the separation of the outer membrane from the bacteria. The solubilized OMPs. separated and visualized by discontinuous polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis, contained a large variety of proteins ranging from 10 to 79 Kd. A 24 Kd band was common to all eight serogroups. A male New Zealand white rabbit infected with 1.5 x 10⁶ L. pneumophila (Chicago 8, serogroup 7) died in nine days despite the administration of erythromycin. Histopathology was particularly evident in the heart and Both myocardial lesions and pneumonitis were evident. lungs. Active immunity was produced in rats injected in the footpads with the OMPs from Chicago 8 strain employing Freud's complete adjuvant, a double emulsion adjuvant or saline. At intervals, serum applutinating titers were measured as were blood leukocytes (total and differential).

The development of delayed hypersensitivity was also noted by measuring the area of erythema and induration produced by intradermal injections of the OMPs from Chicago 8 strain. The adjuvants enhanced greatly both active and cell-mediated immunity (CMI). Transient lymphocytopenia with a slight rise in neutrophils was noted in each of the immunized groups. Intraperitoneal challenge, seven days after the OMP booster, of one LD (1.5 \times 10⁶) of legionellae resulted in lymphocytopenia with elevated neutrophils. All immunized rats survived the challenge, although those in the saline-OMP group were clearly the sickest. Postchallenge, legionella antibody titers rose greatly and CMI was heightened. Passive immunization (homologous and heterologous) was found to protect the rats from a challenge of one LD. Actively-immunized rats retained their immunity for at least six months as determined by their resistance to a second challenge.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
LIST OF TABLES	
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS	
Chapter	
I. INTRODUCTION	1
Early Developments The Nature of the Legionella Bacteria Pathogenesis and Pathology of Legionellosis Clinical Features of Legionnaires' Disease Laboratory Diagnosis Epidemiology	
Therapy of Legionellosis	
The Gram-Negative Outer Membrane	
Legionella pneumophila Outer Membrane Statement of Problem	
II. MATERIALS AND METHODS	40
Study of Outer Membrane Proteins	
Bacteria	
Growth Medium	
Preparation of Suspensions of	
Legionella pneumophila Recovery of Outer Membrane from	
Legionella pneumophila	
Electron Microscopy	
Gel Electrophoresis	
Animal Studies	
Lethal Dose Determination Infection of a Rabbit with <u>Legionella</u> <u>pneumophila</u> Serogroup 7 Aggulinating Antibody Titration Active Immunity in Rats and Its Persistence	

TABLE OF CONTENTS--Continued

Page

Passive Immunization of Rats Heterologous Passive Immunity Effects of Suspending Vehicle of Active and Cell Mediated Immunity to Legionella OMPs; Parallel Leukocyte Responses Cellular Immune Response of Rats to OMPs of Legionella pneumophila .59 III. RESULTS . Outer Membrane Proteins of Legionellae Legionella Outer Membrane Profiles Animal Studies Determination of Lethal Dose (LD) Infection of a Rabbit with Legionella pneumophila Pathology Bacteriological Findings Rat Immunization Duration of Active Immunity Antibody and Cell-Mediated Immunity Total and Differential Leukocyte Counts Protection After Challenge Skin Test 127 DISCUSSION IV. Conclusion 140 REFERENCES .

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
I.	Distribution by Molecular Weight (Kd) of Proteins in Polyacrylamide Gel Electro- phoretograms of <u>Legionella pneumophila</u> Outer Membrane Protein	73
II.	Titration of the Lethal Dose of <u>Legionella</u> <u>pneumophila</u> Serogroup 7	82
III.	Antibody Titers of Rats Injected with Outer Membrane Proteins of <u>Legionella pneu-</u> <u>mophila</u>	97
IV.	Protection Against the Lethality of Legionella pneumophila in Rats Actively Immunized with Outer Membrane Proteins	98
v.	Antibody Titers of Rats Injected with Outer Membrane Proteins of <u>Legionella pneumo-</u> <u>phila</u> (Antisera Used for Passive Immuni- zation)	99
VII.	Homologous and Heterologous Passive Protec- tion of Rats Against a Lethal Dose of <u>Legionella pneumophila</u> Using Antisera Against Outer Membrane Protein from the Same Strain	100
VI.	Agglutination Titers of Rabbits Immunized with Outer Membrane Proteins from <u>Legion-</u> <u>ella pneumophila</u> Serogroup 7	101
VIII.	Persistence of OMP-Induced Active Immunity toward Legionella pneumophila	102
IX.	Total Leukocyte Response to Immunization with Legionella pneumophila Outer Membrane Proteins Followed by Challenge	104
Χ.	Differential Leukocyte Response to Immuniza- tion with <u>Legionella pneumophila</u> Outer Membrane Protein Followed by Challenge	107

v

LIST OF TABLES -- Continued

Table

Page

XI.	Antibody Response of Rats Immunized with Outer Membrane Protein from <u>Legionella</u> <u>pneumophila</u> 113
XII.	Protection Against a Lethal Dose of <u>Legion-</u> <u>ella pneumophila</u> in Rats Immunized with Legionella Outer Membrane Proteins 116
XIII.	Cell-Mediated Immune Response of Rats Sensi- tized to Legionella Outer Membrane Pro- teins
XIV.	Skin Reaction to Legionella Outer Membrane Proteins after Challenge with Living Legionellae

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

Figure		Page
1.	Thin Sections of Legionella Cells, Recovered Directly in Phosphate-Buffered Saline (pH 8) from CYE Agar	60
2.	Thin Sections of Legionella Cells Suspended in Tris Buffer (pH 8) Prior to Citrate- Tris Treatment	62
3.	Thin Sections of Legionella Cells Exposed to 10mM Citrate Buffer (pH 2.75)	64
4.	Thin Sections of Legionella Cells Exposed to 10mM Citrate Buffer (pH 2.75) and Resus- pended in 100 mM Tris Buffer (pH 8)	66
5.	Determination of Molecular Weight of Standard Protein by Polyacrylamide Gel Electropho- resis	67
6.	SDS-PAGE of Legionella pneumophila Outer Membrane	71
7.	SDS-PAGE of Legionella pneumophila Outer Mem- brane Fractions of Serogroup 1 [Strains Knoxville (I), Olda (O ₁) and Darby (D ₁)].	77
8.	SDS-PAGE of Legionella pneumophila Outer Mem- brane Fractions from Serogroup 6 [Strains Ottawa-3 (O) and Chicago-2 (6)]	80
9.	Densitometer Calibration of Legionella Sus- pension Used for Determination of Lethal Dose	83
10.	Photomicrographs of Heart Tissue from a Rabbit Infected with <u>Legionella pneumo-</u> <u>phila</u> and from a Control Rabbit	86
11.	Photomicrographs of Lung Tissue from Rabbit Infected with Legionella pneumophila	88
12.	Photomicrographs of Liver Tissue from Rabbit Infected with Legionella pneumophila	91

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS--Continued

Figure	P	age
13.	Photomicrographs of Spleen Tissue from Rabbits Infected with <u>Legionella pneumophila</u>	93
14.	Total Leukocyte Response to Immunization with Legionella pneumophila Outer Membrane Pro- tein Followed by Challenge	105
15.	Differential Leukocyte Response to Immuniza- tion with Legionella pneumophila Outer Membrane Proteins Followed by Challenge .	110
16.	Antibody Response of Rats Immunized with Legionella pneumophila Outer Membrane Proteins and Subsequently Challenged with the Homologous Strain	114
17.	Antibody Response of Rats Immunized with <u>Legionella pneumophila</u> Outer Membrane Pro- teins and Subsequently Challenged with the Homologous Strain	118
18.	Delayed Hypersensitivity Reaction after Challenge with Viable Legionellae	122
19.	Skin Test Response to Outer Membrane Proteins of <u>Legionella pneumophila</u>	124

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

With the finding by Enders, Weller and Robbins (50) in 1949 that poliovirus could be grown in vitro in nonneural mammalian cell cultures, the past quarter of a century has seen the isolation and identification of hundreds of viral etiologic agents of animal/human disease. On the other hand, few bacterial pathogens of human disease Interestingly, the have been discovered since the 1940s. last two bacterial agents of human infection cause pneu-The principal cause of primary atypical pneumonia monia. (PAP), Mycoplasma pneumoniae, had been considered for years to be a virus since it defied cultivation in non-living media and was filterable (50). In 1962 Chanuck, Hayflick and Barile (39) cultivated this cell wall-less bacterium in a cell-free medium and confirmed it as the etiologic agent of PAP in human volunteers. Fifteen years later, a major outbreak of a severe pneumonia erupted at a state convention of the American Legion in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. Within six months, largely through the efforts of researchers at the Center for Disease Control (CDC) in Atlanta, Georgia, the etiologic agent of the

Philadelphia outbreak had been isolated <u>in vitro</u>. While human volunteers were not employed in establishing cause and effect, the agent was soon shown to cause a fatal pneumonia and systemic infection in the guinea pig and to infect embryonated eggs; it also reacted with antibodies in human convalescent sera. This bacterium was named Legionella pneumophila.

The nature of the disease, legionellosis, and of its etiologic agents will comprise the thrust of this historical review. A topic of special consideration will be the outer membrane proteins (OMPs) of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> inasmuch a significant portion of the research to be reported in this dissertation was devoted to this subject.

Early Developments

Legionnaires' disease (LD) is a pneumonia produced by <u>Legionella pneumophila</u>, a newly-recognized gram-negative bacillus (78, 140). The term "Legionnaires' disease" was originally used to describe an acute, febrile, respiratory illness that affected members and visitors attending the 58th annual convention of the Pennsylvania American Legion held in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, July 21-24, 1976 (30). Because the etiology of the disease was not immediately apparent in the face of 182 cases, including 29 deaths, an investigation of unprecedented magnitude was mounted. The CDC of the Department of Health, Education and Welfare (now

the Department of Health and Human Services) spent many hours and millions of dollars in the pursuit of the cause of the disease. The Pennsylvania State Department of Health and other state and private laboratories also contributed to the gigantic effort to solve the mystery of this threatening illness. So great was public concern that U.S. Congressional hearings were held within four months after the eruption. The first hearing was called for the purpose of eliciting testimony from the experts concerning causative factors and to inquire into the handling of the investigation (45); in the second hearing, the experts focused mainly on the nature of LD in an effort to place the disease in its proper perspective (46).

Over four thousand legionnaires and their families attended the convention. While the convention ended on July 24 and the first death occurred on July 27, the relationship between attending the convention and acquiring a serious respiratory illness was not recognized until Friday, July 30, when Dr. Ernest Campbell of Bloomsburg, Pennsylvania, realized that he was treating three legionnaires for a similar febrile illness. At the same time, in a hospital in Chambersberg, Pennsylvania, an infection control nurse, Mrs. Geneva Baxter, noted a similar illness in three other legionnaires who had attended the convention. An attempt was made to report these findings to state

health officials; however, offices were closed for the weekend (56). It was on Monday, August 2, that the news of this serious illness reached the state and federal public health officials. However, by this time, 18 of the 29 deaths associated with the outbreak had occurred, and all but 16 of the 182 cases were symptomatic (131).

Five and one-half months after the Philadelphia outbreak, the CDC published a special issue of the <u>Morbidity</u> <u>and Mortality Weekly Report</u> (32) in which it was announced that Dr. Joseph McDade, a CDC microbiologist, had isolated a gram-negative bacterium from lung tissues of fatal cases of the disease employing a technique generally used to isolate riskettsial agents.

The techniques employed by McDade and co-workers were those in regular use in CDC's Leprosy and Rickettsia Branch (140). Adult male guinea pigs (weighing approximately 600 g) were inoculated intraperitoneally (i.p.) with 1 ml of freshly-recovered autopsy tissues suspended in sucrosephosphate-glutarate buffer, pH 7.2. Animals were monitored by daily rectal temperatures, and those that became ill were killed on the second or third day after the onset of fever. Pieces of spleen, liver and lung were ground with <u>alundum</u> in a mortar and pestle, and 10 percent suspensions of each were prepared in the buffer. Aliquots of these suspensions were tested for the presence of bacteria by inoculation

onto trypticase soy agar (TSA) and sheep blood agar (SBA) plates and into tubes of thioglycollate broth. Portions of the tissue suspensions were inoculated into the yolk sac of six- to seven-day old embryonated hen's eggs from antibiotic-free flocks. Samples of the yolk sac from those embryos that had died after the third day were stained by the method of Gimenez (88) and examined microscopically. The stained yolk smears revealed slender, irregular rodshaped bacteria.

A bacterium-like agent was found in the lungs of guinea pigs injected with suspensions of lung tissue collected at autopsy. Three isolates were from patients classified clinically and epidemiologically as having LD. In all successful isolation attempts, a febrile illness characterized by watery eyes and eventual prostration developed in the guinea pigs. Impression smears of guinea pig liver and spleen obtained on the second day of fever, stained by the Gimenez method, contained scattered bacilli. An exudate containing numerous bacilli was observed in the peritoneum.

Spleen, liver and lung tissue suspensions from the affected guinea pigs, when inoculated into embryonated eggs, caused death in four to seven days. Eggs injected with spleen tissue died before those injected with tissue from the liver or lungs suggesting that the spleen contained a

greater concentration of the agent than the other two organs. The organism did not grow on trypticase-soy agar or sheep blood agar or in thioglycollate broth; it did grow in Mueller-Hinton agar (BBL) supplemented with hemoglobin and "IsoVitaleX" (adenine, p-aminobenzoic acid, cocarboxylase, L-cystine, glucose, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide, ferric nitrate, glutamine hydrochloride, guanine hydrochloride, thiamine hydrochloride, and vitamin B_{12}). Also, it was discovered that for primary isolation a 10 percent CO_2 -air mixture was essential; the optimal temperature of incubation was 35°C.

The isolate was confirmed as the causative agent by demonstrating antibodies to it in sera from LD cases. Investigators at the CDC soon recognized similarities between the Philadelphia outbreak and two previous outbreaks of febrile disease of unknown etiology. The cause of these earlier outbreaks, occurring in 1965 at St. Elizabeth's Hospital (Washington, D.C.) and in 1968 in a local public health office building (Pontiac, Michigan), had not been determined despite extensive investigation (89, 192). However, by demonstrating antibodies against the newly isolated LD agent in convalescent sera that had been stored during those nine or twelve years, the cause of these outbreaks was thus diagnosed, retrospectively as LD (32, 140).

Because the etiology of LD was unknown at the time of the outbreak in Philadelphia, the CDC used clinical and epidemiologic criteria to define cases. Naturally, attendance at the convention was included in the definition Initially, many members of the American Legion (31).opposed the use of the organization's name in referring to the illness, feeling that it might discredit their group. Eventually, the Pennsylvania American Legion voted to accept the term, "Legionnaires' disease," when referring to this illness. On April 8, 1977, the CDC referred to the illness as Legionnaires' disease (33). In reports on subsequent outbreaks, which were identified with increasing frequency, it became the practice to include the name of the city, state, or country in which the outbreak occurred, e.g. Legionnaires' disease-Ohio (34).

Legionnaires' disease is now the commonly used name of the infection caused by <u>Legionella pneumophila</u>, the name proposed in 1979 by McDade (21) for the gram-negative bacterium which he had isolated from lung tissues of victims of the Philadelphia outbreak two years earlier (32). In subsequent years, other species of legionellae were isolated. These will be described in the next section.

The Nature of the Legionella Bacteria

The etiologic agent of LD, <u>Legionella pneumophila</u>, was found to be sufficiently unique to be classified in both a

new genus and a new family (Legionellaceae) (21, 131). It is a pleomorphic, obligately aerobic, gram-negative bacillus, the morphology of which varies considerably depending upon cultural conditions. In both human lung tissue and the egg yolk sac, the Legionnaires' disease bacterium (LDB) is predominantly bacillary, although coccobacilli and filamentous forms are commonly encounted. On bacteriologic media, early forms are bacillary, but with age become highly filamentous. By scanning electron microscopy, some individual organisms are found to have a slightly swollen appearance with rough, cigar-shaped ends (131); also, polar and bipolar flagella and pili of varied morphology have been observed. Multiplication is by transverse binary fission (175, 176, 193).

Morphologic identification of LDB in tissues is difficult because conventional histopathologic stains for microorganisms, including Brown-Brenn, Brown-Hopps, Giemsa, Gomori methenamine silver, Gridley's fungus stain, periodic acid-Schiff, and acid-fast methods have been negative or unreliable (37). On the other hand, cells in gram-stained smears of LDB from artificial culture media appear bright red when counterstained with carbol fuchsin or very faintly pink when counterstained with safranin-O.

The Gimenez stain, originally designed for the identification of rickettsiae, is very useful when applied to

crude preparations of tissue or to smears of exudates or to infected yolk sacs as well as to suspensions of organisms taken from agar plates. With this method, slide preparations are air dried, briefly heat-fixed, and then stained; bacteria appear bright red against a bluish green background.

Even though LDB is a gram-negative bacterium, it stains poorly by the conventional gram stain (37), particularly in tissue sections, because it is readily decolorized and does not take up much of the counterstain. However, the use of a "half-gram" stain has produced much better visualization of LDB (52). When terminating gram's procedure upon application of the mordant (Lugol's iodine), the organisms will appear as highly visible, purple-black bacilli in the tissues. This procedure is recommended when no bacteria are visualizable following the conventional gram stain.

One of the most sensitive methods for detecting LDB in tissue sections is the Dieterle Silver Impregnation (DSI) stain (14). With it, the bacteria are seen as short, pleomorphic, occasionally vacuolated, brown to black rods. The most useful and reliable means of identifying LDB, especially in tissues or exudates, is the application of fluorescently-labeled antibodies (FAB) prepared from hyperimmune rabbit antisera (143).

Because of its unusual staining properties, LDB should be suspected when appropriate tissues from pneumonia patients stained by gram's method reveal no organisms but with a "half-a-gram" or DSI stain show many pleomorphic bacilli. More conclusive is the FAB procedure, although so many new serotypes are being encounted that its value is diminishing (145).

When grown on Mueller-Hinton agar supplemented with iron and cysteine and observed under the electron microscope, the LDB is found to have an ultrastructure typical of gram-negative bacteria. The cell is surrounded by two complete trilamellar membranes, each composed of two electron-dense layers which are separated by an electrontranslucent layer (72). The two types of cell membranes from intact cells and from sonicates of spheroplasts were separated by sucrose density gradient sedimentation by De Petris (53) into two fractions; one denser fraction was found to contain a high concentration of 2-keto-3-deoxyoctonate, a compound characteristic of endotoxins in the outer membrane of gram-negative organisms, and a lighter fraction which contained most of the succinic dehydrogenase activity found principally in the cytoplasmic or inner bacterial cell membranes. Also, De Petris found the peptidoglycan to be similar in composition to that of most gram-negative bacteria, except for the absence of

diaminopimelic acid (DAP), a usual constituent of the tetrapeptide of gram-negative peptidoglycans. Thus, absence of DAP in the peptidoglycan would appear to constitute a significant departure from typical gram-negative peptidoglycans. Later, however, DAP was isolated, in concentrations typical of gram-negative behavior, from various strains of L. pneumophila, all in serogroup 1 (94).

The nature of the lipids of the envelope of LDB has received particular attention. Finnerty and his colleagues (71) noted the following characteristics to be shared generally by a broad spectrum of LDB strains: (a) similar, if not identical, simple and complex lipids; (b) high phosphatidylcholine content, usual among gram-negative bacteria; (c) high total phospholipid content, indicative of intracellular membrane development; (d) unusually fatty acid composition dominated by branched-chain fatty acids; and, (e) neutral lipid composition similar to other gramnegative bacteria.

Others have characterized the total cellular fatty acid content of legionellae and found it to contain a high proportion of branch-chain fatty acids (151, 158). These include iso- and anti-iso-monounsaturated and saturated fatty acids as well as a C_{17} cyclopropaneterminated fatty acid. Mono- and dihydroxy fatty acids also have been detected by Mayberry (138) in legionellae;

they are likely to be bound to peptidoglycan. He suggested that these fatty acids are β -hydroxyisomyristic acid and β -hydroxyarachidic acid.

Branched chain fatty acids are generally restricted to gram-positive bacteria (90, 185) and are the predominant form of fatty acids in the <u>Bacillaceae</u>, <u>Micrococeaceae</u> and <u>Actinomycetales</u>. The occurrence of branched chain fatty acids as major fatty acids in gram-negative bacteria has been documented only in a few species, including the thermophilic bacteria <u>Thermus flavis</u>, <u>Thermus aquaticus</u> and <u>Flavobacterium thermophilum</u> (160). <u>Desulfovibrio gigas</u>, an anaerobic sulfate reducer, was also found to contain branched chain fatty acids (137). The presence, in major amounts, of branched-chain fatty acids, coupled with the absence of other fatty acids usually prominent in other gram-negative bacteria, results in a unique fatty acid profile for LDB (131).

Endotoxin, a universal and biologically-active constituent of the outer membrane of gram-negative bacteria is the lipopolysaccharide (LPS) constituent in phenol extracts (209). According to Wong (218), the "endotoxicity" detected in LDB by <u>in vitro</u> and <u>in vivo</u> biological assays seemed to differ in several respects from the classic endotoxicity generally associated with gram-negative organisms. For example, with endotoxins from Salmonella,

Klebsiella, Escherichia, and other gram-negative bacteria, the Limulus lysate test is some 10 to 20 times more sensitive than is the rabbit pyrogen test (219, 168). With LDB endotoxin, however, the Limulus lysate test is 1,000 times more sensitive than the rabbit pyrogen test. This difference in biological responses raises the possibility of a unique LDB endotoxin (218). Wong et. al. in 1973 (220) found that endotoxins of a low order of toxicity respond better to potentiation by dactinomycin than do the more highly active endotoxins. Also, it was shown in 1967 (170) that polymyxin B reduces the toxicity of endotoxin by complexing to the lipid A moiety. When LDB endotoxin was treated with the later antibiotic, its toxicity was not affected as measured by dactinomycin potentiation (218). Friedman et al. (85) reported that LDB endotoxin has greater adjuvant activity than that of E. coli. Also, as is typical of all endotoxins, he found LDB endotoxin to be relatively heat stable.

Moss and his colleagues (151) have shown cellular fractions of LDB to contain branch-chain fatty acids; no hydroxy-fatty acids, as associated with classical endotoxin, were found. Unlike the hydroxy-fatty acids of lipid A, LDB branched-chain fatty acids could be extracted with chloroform without prior saponification. In one study (86) of the effects of LDB endotoxin on leucocyte procoagulation activity, LDB-LPS, extracted by the Westphal (209)

procedure, was found in both the aqueous and phenolic phases of extraction, unlike endotoxin from other bacteria which are found only in the phenolic phase. The later study was directed at the matter of abnormal clotting time and thrombotic complications seen in legionellosis. The foregoing findings suggest that the endotoxin of LDB is unique, chemically and biologically.

Nevertheless, LDB endotoxin would seem to be a true endotoxin since it is pyrogenic, causes coagulation in the Limulus lysate assay, has procoagulating activity and is probably the substance responsible for vascular complications in legionella pneumonia patients. Thus, the legionellae possess most of the <u>in vivo</u> and <u>in vitro</u> biological properties associated with endotoxins found in typical gram-negative bacteria. Also, the morphological evidence of an outer membrane, as revealed by electron microscopy (122), would imply a functional endotoxin in LDB.

The formal classification of the legionellae was established in November 1978 at the First International Symposium on Legionnaires Disease (6). At that time the family name <u>Legionellaceae</u>, the genus <u>Legionella</u>, and the single species <u>Legionella pneumophila</u>, were introduced (21). As early as 1947, a bacterium resembling <u>L</u>. pneumophila, had been deposited unnamed in the American Type

Culture Collection (141). By 1979 four serogroups had been detected by direct immunoflourescence (DIF) (208). Since the International Symposium on Legionnaires' Disease held in 1979 a total of eight serogroups (12, 13) and ten species of Legionella pneumophila have been described (99, Members of the genus Legionella characteristically 151). are oxidase and catalase positive, hydrolyze hippurate, utilize *a*-ketoglutarate, pyruvate, and certain amino acids as sources of carbon, produce a hemolysin active upon guinea pig, horse, rabbit and dog erythrocytes and possess a distinctive pattern of predominantly branched-chain fatty acids as revealed by gas chromatography (152). DNA hybridization is the method by which speciation is unequivocal. Brenner (121) states, " . . . this DNA relatedness, as determined by hybridation, is the definitive means by which new Legionella species and serogroups are classified."

Legionella-like organisms (LLO) have been encounted with increasing frequency since 1979 and are still being found. The LLO are defined as gram negative bacteria that do not meet the definition of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> but will grow on at least one agar medium designed for the growth of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> but fail to grow on other commonly used laboratory media (22). These LLO include two isolates recovered many years before LD was known; <u>L</u>. <u>bozemanii</u> isolated in 1959 (16, 22) and <u>L</u>. <u>micdadei</u> isolated in 1943 (99, 190).

Others include the "Pittsburgh pneumonia agent," \underline{L} . <u>dummoffii</u>, isolated from soil on a creek bank (150), \underline{L} . <u>longbeachae</u>, isolated from human lung tissue and transtracheal aspirates (144), \underline{L} . <u>jordanis</u> (40) from natural water, \underline{L} . <u>oakridgensis</u> (158), also isolated from water but not implicated clinically, \underline{L} . <u>wadsworthii</u>, isolated from a patient with pneumonia (60), and \underline{L} . <u>feeleii</u>, isolated from an oil-water cooling mixture in an automobile assembly plant in Canada (102). Serological evidence implicated the later strain as the causative agent of an outbreak of a disease resembling Pontiac fever in that plant.

Recently, Brenner and associates (23) have isolated and characterized ten new species of Legionella on the basis of biochemical reactions, antigens, cellular fatty acids, isoprenoid quinones, and deoxyribonucleic acid relatedness. The genus Legionella is characterized as gram-negative, rod-shaped, motile bacteria. All the species exhibit certain biochemical reactions typical of legionellae, e.g. growth on buffered cysteine-yeast extract agar, but not on blood agar; requirement for cysteine; nonfermentative; catalase positive; production of a brown pigment on tyrosin-containing yeast extract agar; and liquefaction of gelatin. All species have a comparable fatty acid content and have major amounts of ubiquinones with more than ten isoprene units in the side chain. Each of

new species characterized is serologically distinct from previously described Legionella species.

Pathogenesis and Pathology of Legionellosis

How <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> actually enters the lungs is not known with certainty, but direct inhalation is more likely than aspiration (38). Adherance of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> to various sites in the respiratory tract has not been studied in detail. Once the organism enters the lungs, the disease occurs primarily in the alveoli and terminal respiratory bronchioles (213). The inflammatory response is characterized by a varying mixture of intra-alveolar macrophages and polymorphonuclear leukocytes, resulting in a consolidating type of pneumonia (100, 212).

Two distinct patterns of illness caused by <u>L</u>. <u>pneumo-phila</u> have been observed. Legionnaires' disease as it occurred in Philadelphia in 1976 (51) and elsewhere (65), is a multisystem illness involving the gastrointestinal tract, kidney and central nervous system; however, pneumonia is the most prominent feature in most cases. In Philadelphia, the incubation period averaged five to six days and the fatality rate was 15 percent. In sharp contrast is "Pontiac fever," reported in 1968 as a single outbreak that affected some of the personnel working in the building housing the Oakland County Health Department in Pontiac, Michigan (89). Pontiac fever was characterized by fever, headache, myalgia, cough, diarrhea, vomiting and chest pain; mild sore throats were observed in some of the patients. No pneumonia was seen although one patient had a pleural friction (89). The incubation period averaged thirty-six hours; none of the cases was fatal.

The histopathology of pneumonia caused by <u>L</u>. <u>pneumo-</u> <u>phila</u> is characterized by a cytoclastic picture with necrosis of mononuclear and polymorphonuclear cells in the alveolar inflammatory exudate (4). The detailed pathogenesis of this lesion has not been elucidated. One possible mechanism suggested by Baine (4) could involve the release of bacterial cytotoxin acting on host cell membranes.

Baine and his coworkers (5) in 1979 reported that cultures of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> lyse guinea pig, horse, rabbit and sheep erythrocytes in an agar medium, whereas human erythroctyes are less susceptible. In an earlier study, Turner (200) in 1958 showed that erythrocytes from guinea pigs are particularly sensitive to hemolytic substances because of a higher content of lecithin in the membranes than found in erythrocytes of other species. Baine also reported seven species of <u>Legionella</u> to possess cytolytic activity that can be detected using dog erythrocytes as the target cells. Furthermore, he discovered legionellae to produce a "cytolytic exotoxin" and a phospholipase C,

both of which he felt might contribute to the pulmonary lesions seen in infected hosts. It has been suggested that Pontiac fever resulted from the acquisition of a large dose of non-toxigenic legionella; however, no differences of obvious importance, including toxin production, have been found in guinea pig susceptibility tests between strains of L. pneumophila that cause classical Legionnaires' disease and the strain responsible for Pontiac fever (110). Eickhoff (65) has suggested that Pontiac fever may have resulted from exposure to a large number of dead L. pneumophila. The Pontiac outbreak was very likely airborne since a guinea pig exposed in an air duct of the health department's facility became sick. Its tissues were frozen and some years later workers at CDC isolated a new legionella organisms, subsequently identified as L. feeleii (131).

Laboratory studies have shown <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> to be an intracellular parasite able to grow within a variety of mononuclear cells (105). While neither polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PML) nor monocytes kill <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> very well <u>in vitro</u> (105), activated monocytes are more effective than PMLs; hence, cell-mediated immunity has been implicated in host defenses to LD (106, 148). Patients with dysfunctions of the cellular immune system, whether from therapy to underlying disease, are at high risk of developing LD (107). It has been reported that serum from

LD patients promotes phagocytosis by human monocytes in vitro (201). Horwitz and Silverstein (105) speculated that the promotion of phagocytosis in the absence of effective active immunity might promote growth of the bacterium and, hence, more severe disease. Recurrent LD has occurred in patients with pre-existing antibody, suggesting that LD-specific antibody is not protective (146), thus lending further weight to delayed hypersensitivity as the important immune response. Pathology from this disease, with rare exception, is confined to the lungs and pleura (213). In unsuccessfully treated cases, acute inflammatory consolidation of airspaces occurs (214). In most fatal cases there is extensive involvement of both lobes (214). The uniform distribution of the lesions throughout the lobes of the lung, from apex to base, is said to be compatible with an inhalation origin; this does not rule out aspiration as the mechanism (214). Lung tissue on autopsy has been found to be granular, friable and gray in color, reflecting extensive alveolar consolidation (213). Neutrophils, macrophases, proteinaceous debris and extensive deposits of fibrin have been reported to be the principal constituent of the infiltrate (214). Abcess formation, which is prominent in pneumonia due to gramnegative bacteria, is not always a feature of legionella pneumonia (164, 132).

Clinical Features of Legionnaires' Disease

Legionellosis is a general term reserved for all the clinical syndromes caused by organisms classified within the genus <u>Legionella</u>. Legionnaires' disease is the pneumonic form of legionellosis caused by <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u>; in contrast, Pontiac fever is the self-limited nonpneumonic, respiratory illness caused by the same organism (11).

The incubation period of the more common pneumonic form is approximately two to ten days, but it may be longer if interrupted with antibiotic therapy, or it may be even shorter in immunosuppressed patients (148). The manifestation of disease ranges from asymptomatic seroconversion to mild pneumonia with multisystemic disease to severe pneumonia (78, 148). As described by Edelstein and associates (63), the onset of pneumonia is often gradual, but it may fulmmate, especially in immunosuppressed patients. A prodome of malaise, anoerxia, lethargy, weakness, and occasionally clumsiness occurs at first. Symptoms of upper respiratory tract involvement are usually absent at this stage (78, 148). Most patients have a dry, nonproductive cough which begins during the first few days of illness. In most patients, recurrent chills appear. If sputum is produced, it may be purulent in some and bloody in others. In one study, half of the patients exhibited a painless watery diarrhea, headache was common and about

95 percent of the patients produce a fever, sometimes as high as 104°F. The central nervous system may be involved as manifested by confusion, disorientation, agitation, hallucinations, stupor or other related symptoms (123).

Laboratory Diagnosis

In the evaluation of patients with infection, successful isolation of the causative agent is important because it provides a sound basis for diagnosis and thus for effective management. At the time of the Philadelphia epidemic, however, no diagnostic tools were available. Fortunately, two antibiotics, erythromycin and terramycin, were found by chance to be effective at that time (131).

Since its first appearance in 1976, considerable progress has been made in the laboratory diagnosis of LD (58, 61, 216). As already discussed in this historical review, one of the major advances has been the improvement of culture media for the isolation of LDB. Direct and indirect fluorescent antibody (FA) methods for detection of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> in sputum or of antibodies in the serum have proven to be helpful in establishing an early diagnosis but still pose problems of both sensitivity and specificity. Detection of soluble protein antigens in urine has been reported to be diagnostically useful and may even supersede some of the other diagnostic procedures (62).

Taylor, et. al. (191) reported success in the diagnosis of LD with an indirect fluorescent antibody test using a formolized yolk sac antigen recovered from eggs injected with the Pontiac strain of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> (now named <u>L</u>. <u>feelei</u>). More recently, Harrison and Taylor (97) described a semiautomated rapid microagglutination test. Others have reported that both tests have good specificity (191).

The initial successful effort to grow LDB on a solid medium was achieved with the commercially-produced mueller-Hinton medium (Difco Laboratories) supplemented with iso-VitaleX and hemoglobin (MHIM (131). This medium was improved by the replacement of hemoglobin with soluble ferric pyrophosphate and isoVitaleX with L-cysteine-HCL by Feeley and Gorman (F-G agar) (69).

The next improvement of a medium for the legionellae was the formulation of charcoal yeast extract (CYE) agar containing L-cysteine-HCL and soluble ferric pyrophosphate (70). In comparison with F-G agar, CYE agar reduced the time of incubation for the appearnce of visible colonies by some twelve hours; furthermore, CYE agar supported 100-fold more visible colonies than did F-G agar inoculated similarly (70). The development of the CYE medium (70) and, later, of the buffered CYE medium (BCYE) by Pasculle and his colleagues (162), has promoted both routine isolation of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> from clinical specimens and laboratory studies on the legionellae. The addition of α -ketoglutarate

to BCYE medium (α KCBCYE) improved growth even more (59). Also, the addition of certain antibiotics to BCYE medium was found to enhance the selective isolation of <u>L</u>. pneumophila and some other legionellae from sputum (121).

Two groups of investigators developed a chemicallydefined liquid medium for L. pneumophila (165). The medium of Pine et. al. contains minerals, α -ketoglutarate, pyruvate, L-cysteine, glutathione, and twenty amino acids. Maximum growth in this medium was achieved in a 5 percent carbon dioxide-air atmosphere. Pine concluded that LDB, which is a strict aerobe, required carbon dioxide for metabolic purposes as well as for its buffering action. The other chemically-defined liquid medium, devised by Warren and Miller (204) contains twenty-one amino acids and inorganic salts, including ferric pyrophosphate, and could be employed both as an agar or as a liquid; the requirement for L-cysteine, L-serine and L-methionine was found to be absolute.

A plethora of methods has been introduced for the serological diagnosis of legionella infection. The indirect FA method is still the reference method, as it is very well standardized (67, 68, 96, 210). Rapid diagnosis of LD often can be accomplished within a matter of hours by using the direct FA technique for the detection of bacteria in clinical specimens. Likewise, the rapid detection of soluble

LDB antigens in urine by either radioimmunoassay (RIA) (58, 216) or enzyme-labeled immunoassay (ELIA) (118, 181) has been successful. The tests for soluble antigen in urine are very specific, with about 80 percent sensitivity, approximating that of the direct immunofluorescent test (181). Direct immunofluorescent examination of sputum for \underline{L} . <u>pneumophila</u> is very specific, but the likelihood of a successful isolation from sputum, even with α KGBCYE agar, is poor (118). Complicating the picture is the wide prevalence of LDB antibodies in the general population. The interpretation of a positive diagnostic test benefits from correlation with the occurrence of local outbreaks. Single, isolated cases are more difficult to diagnose.

By means of reactivity with antisera from rabbits (84), guinea pigs (84) or mice (84) injected with formalintreated LDB, the legionellae have been placed in eight serogroups; however, strain differences exist within groups, sometimes leading to difficulty in allocation of isolates to a specific group. The introduction in 1975 by Kohler and Milstein (127) of cell fusion for the production of monoclonal antibodies of defined specificity has revolutionized antigenic analysis. The application of monoclonal antibody offers an alternative, one that is clear and reproducible, with the prospect of more reliable standards than presently exist (205). Thus, serogrouping of bacteria

(42) and viruses (128), previously indistinguishable with the usual polyclonal animal antisera, have been reported. Using monoclonal antibody techniques, Joly (117), has defined five subtypes of L. pneumophila serogroup 1.

In his study on the production of monoclonal antibody to <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> and its relationship to plasmids, Para <u>et al</u>. (161) coupled LDB-specific monoclonal antibodies which recognize subsets of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> with analysis of several plasmids to provide markers for strains of serogroup 1. These markers should be useful in epidemiological studies of LD and in understanding environmental colonization by legionella (143).

Guillet <u>et al</u>. (95) recently developed an antilegionella serotype 1 monoclonal antibody. Application of this antibody enabled the detection in clinical samples (bronchoscopic and urine) of the homologous antigen. It is to be hoped that the use of this monoclonal antibody would enable the diagnosis of legionellosis in the early steps of the disease. Once a battery of monoclonal antibodies is available, we may learn more about the specific LDB antigen responsible for the immune response.

Watkins and Tobin (205) have shown that monoclonal antibodies appear to be superior to whole sera for the accurate and reproducible serogrouping of legionella strains and should be useful for diagnosis and environmental
studies as well as for the analysis of the structure of LDB's cell envelope.

Epidemiology

In the 1976 seminal Philadelphia outbreak of LD, there was a high correlation of febrile respiratory disease and attendance at the American Legion Convention. The outbreak involved, in addition, a few others staying at the headquarters hotel, as well as about twenty persons who had walked within a block of the hotel but who did not enter it; however, the outbreak did not spread beyond the hotel site. With 182 cases and 29 deaths among the 4,400 conventioneers between July 27 and August 16, the occurrence can be considered to be an epidemic (78).

Infections caused by legionellae have been shown to be transmitted from contaminated aqueous sites, such as air conditioning cooling towers (55), evaporative condensers (80), shower heads (197), and water nebulizers (80). Also dust from the soil has been strongly implicated (76).

Common source outbreaks have been observed in four clinical-epidemiologic patterns. First are those of shortduration, with a low attack rate, high fatality rate, a relatively long incubation period and with clinical findings of fever and pneumonia. These are exemplified by the original outbreak in Philadelphia (78, 140) and by the retrospectively identified one at Saint Elizabeth Hospital in Washington, D.C. (192). Second are those of short duration, with a high attack rate, a short incubation period, no pneumonia, and no fatalities, as encounted in Pontiac, Michigan (89) and in St. James, Virginia (80). Two patterns, less defined than the others, occur as intermittent commonsource outbreaks of hyperendemic pneumonic or Pontiac-type disease, which at times may erupt into epidemic proportions in buildings, most commonly hospitals (10, 25, 123, 124).

The shape of the epidemic curve, with its rapid upswing and an incubation period of two to ten days, sug-There is no gests a continuing common-source exposure. evidence of spread from person to person. The mode of transmission of the organism was investigated extensively in the initial outbreaks. Epidemiologic evidence from the Philadelphia outbreak (78) suggests that the disease was not transmitted by ingestion of food or water nor by spread from person to person; rather, it was airborne. Similar findings were encountered by investigators of subsequent outbreaks of LD (47, 55, 89). The failure to implicate a common food served at the convention hotel, or sold by street vendors, or served at any of the local coffee shops or restaurants argues against a foodborne outbreak. The occurrence in the summer would be consistent with spread by an arthropod vector, but neither bites nor arthropods were found on the patients (131).

Airborne infection could explain the good correlation found between illness and the length of time spent in the hotel. Certainly an airborne agent could have affected the few non-legionnaire victims who stayed at the same hotel. Various agents were considered by the investigators of this outbreak; viruses, rickettsiae, bacteria, fungi and even toxic chemicals were candidates (131). The sudden outbreak in late July and its abrupt disappearance in mid-August lent weight to the airborne theory. Efforts were made to detect pneumonia-producing microorganisms in the local bird and rodent populations, as well as in samples of air, dust and soil (78).

From the earliest recognized outbreaks of legionellosis, strong epidemiological evidence has linked spread of the disease with certain types of water cooling systems which generate droplet clouds, and with domestic plumbing systems (170). Less than a year after the Philadelphia eruption, McDade <u>et al</u>. (140) had isolated the etiologic agent of LD from an autopsy lung specimen.

Inhalation as a mode of acquiring LD was supported by the work of Baskerville <u>et</u> <u>al</u>. (8, 9) who successfully induced experimental respiratory infection, similar to that of human legionellosis, in both guinea pigs and rhesus monkeys exposed to aerosols of LDB.

On three occasions (including the previous episode of Pontiac fever), common source outbreaks of legionellosis

have occurred in such a pattern as to suggest that they were caused by spread of droplet nuclei from aerosols generated from air conditioning cooling towers (35), evaporative condensers (36, 89), and respiratory devices (80). In one outbreak, LDB-laden aerosols were found in a chimney (7). The evidence that contaminating cooling towers may play a role in the transmission of legionellosis has raised serious concern in many circles over the environmental distribution of the organism and the feasibility of its eradication from certain kinds of equipment used in transporting domestic or fresh waters (41). Cooling towers known to transfer LDB should be disinfected routinely by a standard protocol (74). While there is reluctance to modify tried and true procedures of maintenance, surveillance of cooling waters by culturing them for legionellae is encouraged (74). However, some reports raise hope that chemical disinfection may solve this problem (77, 92, 129). Buildings equipped with cooling towers will continue to be an important source of this organism.

Studies of the distribution of legionellae in natural habitats have been confined primarily to fresh waters (75). On the other hand, Ortiz-Roque and Hazen (159) reported the isolation of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> from rain forest areas of Puerto Rico and encounted legionella-like organisms in the Carribean Ocean. The distribution of legionellae in a

tropical habitat may well be different from that in the more temperate habitats thus far studied. Perhaps new serotypes or even new species of legionellae may be discovered in the tropics.

Therapy of Legionellosis

The efficacy of antimicrobial agents in the treatment of Legionnaires' disease has been assessed in various ways. Initially, retrospective analysis of the chemotherapy employed in several species of clinical cases was compared with the <u>in vitro</u> sensitivity of <u>Legionella pneumophila</u> to the antimicrobials administered. Clinical responses to antibiotic therapy and <u>in vitro</u> sensitivity patterns, however, were found by Fraser (79) to not always correlate. There are several reasons for this, including variable diffusion of the antibiotics in the test medium, the ongoing treatment of some of the patients with immunosuppressive agents, differences in the environment of the bacteria, LDB β -lactamase production, and failure of the antibiotic to reach the organisms in tissues in effective concentration (163).

Analyses of clinical cases have indicated that the drugs of choice for therapy of Legionnaires' disease are erythromycin and tetracyclines. Patients treated with these antibiotics have been shown to have a lower mortality

than those given other antibiotics (25, 127, 199). As pointed out by Gibson, et al. (87), comparisons of different series of patients need to be interpreted with caution since, inevitably, the groups are heterogeneous with respect to age, sex, immunocompetence, concurrent disease, strain of Legionella, duration of infection, severity of lung lesions and nature of the therapeutic regimen.

Using the aerosol-infected guinea-pig model, Gibson and associates (87) analyzed the efficacy of several antimicrobial agents in treating LD. Such a model provided information not available from LDB-infected human cells or from bacterial cultures <u>in vitro</u>. In these studies, the effects of rifampicin, gentamicin and erythromycin on the number of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> in the lungs and on the nature of the pulmonary lesions were tested. The above-mentioned antibiotics prevented death when administered after a low infective dose (ILD_{50}); only rifampicin provided protection against challenge with a high dose ($10LD_{50}$). Rifampicin was also by far the most effective of the three drugs in eliminating viable L. pneumophila from the lungs (87).

Results of therapy with tetracycline have been inconsistent, although most patients responded to it (78, 124). The penicillins, aminoglycosides, vancomycin, clindamycin and all the cephalosporins have no therapeutic value for LD unless there is a mixed infection. In patients who are

critically ill, heavily immunosuppressed, or who have pulmonary abcess due to <u>Legionella</u>, the use of rifampicin in conjunction with erythromycin is recommended (63). However, those patients who are allergic to erythromycin should be given the lipid-soluble tetracycline, deoxycycline, along or with rifampicin. Other than relative cost, a major objection to the use of rifampicin as the drug of choice in LD is that one-step bacterial resistance to it may develop, as has been shown to occur in <u>Mycobacterium</u> <u>tuberculosis</u> cultures isolated from patients receiving this drug (50). Also, at very high dosage, rifampicin has been shown to be hepatotoxic and to have some immunosuppressive effects (93).

Although Fraser and colleagues (79) reported that gentamicin had no effect in preventing death of guinea pigs infected intraperitoneally with <u>L. pneumophila</u>, Gibson and his associates (87) reported that gentamicin cleared the lungs of viable bacteria several days earlier than did erythromycin.

Rodgers and Elliott (177) examined the effects of ampicillin and erythromycin on the morphology and "regrowthability" of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> by means of thin-section negative staining and scanning electron microscopy. Both antibiotics caused cell lysis and induced the appearance of filamentous forms along with surface defects. Viable cell counts showed

3.3

that ampicillin was more bactericidal than erythromycin; a regrowth to a normal rate and restoration of normal morphology occurred more rapidly in cells exposed to erythromycin than in those exposed to ampicillin. To our knowledge, ampicillin is not used in the treatment of LD.

The Gram-Negative Outer Membrane

All bacteria possess a cytoplasmic or plasma membrane described by the well known fluid mosaic model (186) of a lipid bilayer interspersed with proteins, mostly enzymes, similar in structure and function to those of eucaryotic cells but with some significant differences. The bacterial cell membrane contains the system for active transport, oxidative phosphorylation and the biosynthesis of such unique bacterial macromolecules as peptidoglycan (20). All gram-negative bacteria also contain the external or outer membrane (OM) which, although morphologically similar to the cytoplasmic membrane, contains a lower content of phospholipids, fewer proteins and a unique lipopolysaccharide (LPS) or endotoxin (48).

The nature and function of the outer membrane has been reviewed extensively by Costerton (48), Inouye (114) and DiRienzo (54). Essentially the outer membrane acts as a diffusion barrier against various compounds, for example antibiotics; it contains receptors for bacteriophages and

colicins; it is involved in the process of conjugation and also of cell division, or, more precisely, in septum formation; it contains various specific uptake systems for nutrients, such as iron, vitamins, and carbohydrates; and it contains specific and nonspecific passive diffusion pores of proteins ("porins") that allow the diffusion of low molecular weight substrates. The outer membrane also provides a protective environment for certain hydrolytic enzymes and binding proteins that reside in the periplasmic space--the region between the outer membrane and the thin layer of peptidoglycan--and participates, in conjunction with the peptidoglycan, in maintaining the structural integrity of the protoplast.

Since the outer membrane proteins (OMPs) serve diverse roles, and thus are crucial to membrane function and integrity, more information on the nature of these proteins is crucial to an understanding of outer membranes. Because of the relatively small number of OMPs, some of which are present in rather large quantities, they are easy to isolate for subsequent characterization (48).

Research on the synthesis and assembly of OMPs has been extensive since these proteins were first separated and identified in the late 1960s (20) and early 1970s (112). Thus, today, we have a fairly comprehensive picture of the nature of these OMPs. Investigation of the assembly of

proteins in the outer membrane reveal that some of them form oligomers with themselves or with other neighboring proteins, and are exposed on the surface of the cell while spanning the entire thickness of the outer membrane often forming micropores (54). Many of the minor and major OMPs have been identified as receptors for phages and bacteriocins. Most of them are now known to enable the permeation of specific nutritional substrates through the outer membrane; some of them have no known receptor function (18, 19).

In 1970, Schnaitman (183) recovered cell envelopes by passing <u>Escherichia coli</u> cells through a French pressure cell and separated them into two distinct particulate fractions by sucrose density gradient centrifugation. The outer membrane function was found to contain one major protein with a molecular weight of 44,000 daltons which accounted for 70 percent of the total OMPs. Several years later, Inouye and Yee (112, 113), using 1 percent sodium dodecyl sulfate and various solubilization conditions, showed that Schnaitman's "major peak" (44Kd) was an artifact. Instead, they found several proteins migrating at different rates.

By now it has been established that Schnaitman's major OMP consists of at least four different components (20). In addition to these major OMPs of relatively high molecular weight, another major OMP, a lipoprotein, has been found to be present in E. coli (114).

Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE) is an extremely useful technique for the analysis of membrane proteins. Results must be interpreted cautiously since some of the protein bands may not be homogeneous. Furthermore, the composition and amount of OMPs may vary greatly depending on the bacterial strain and conditions of cultivation (111, 134, 184). The resolution and the order of migration of the major OMPs undergoing electrophoresis greatly depend on specifics of the sodium dodecyl gel system used, such as concentration of the acrylamide, extent of cross-linking, pH of the buffer, ionic strength, voltage and amperage and the way in which the sample is solubilized. In the outer membrane of E. coli are found some ten to twenty "minor proteins." The term minor protein is misleading since under certain growth conditions some of the minor proteins may be produced in major amounts.

Legionella pneumophila Outer Membrane

Interest in the cellular antigens of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> has focused largely on endotoxin. Preliminary reports (73) have indicated that <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> OM material can be isolated by treatment of the organism with ethylenediaminotetracetic acid (EDTA)-lysozyme or by extraction with EDTA. Hindal and Iglewski (103) have suggested that the OM of L. pneumophila

presents a hydrophobic surface to the environment. In fact, recent studies on the crystal violet uptake and hexadecane affinity have shown that the surface of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> is distinctly more hydrophobic than that of a wild-type Salmonella cholerasuis (15).

Recently, Hindal and Iglewski (103) and Ehret (64) reported the separation by PAGE of OMPs from a number of legionella species. One protein (29 ± 500Kd) was common to all of them. It was thought that such a protein could serve as a suitable antigen for a specific serological test in the diagnosis of legionellosis.

Statement of Problem

Since <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> is a gram-negative bacterium, it is presumed to contain OMPs; however, at the start of this study nothing was known of OMPs in legionellae. If they exist, no doubt the host's immune system would respond to them. While patients with LD reveal an active immune response to the eight endotoxins of this bacterium, cellmediated immune responses to unidentified antigens also have been noted. The most obvious surface antigens in addition to endotoxin are the OMPs. Because so little is known about the immune response to <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u>, because better diagnostic reagents are needed and because the surface proteins of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> have not been investigated, the several objectives of this project were

1. To separate and visualize by gel eletrophoresis the principal OMPs of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> and to compare their distribution among the eight endotoxin serotypes.

2. To assess in the rabbit the antigenicity of the OMPs from one of the serotypes of L. pneumophila.

3. To assess by challenge with LDB the protective capacity of OMP antibodies through heterologous or homologous passive immunoprophylaxis in rats.

4. To determine in the rat whether the OMPs of LDB play a role in cell mediated immunity.

CHAPTER II

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study of Outer Membrane Proteins

Bacteria

This study was carried out with the eight serogroups of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> which were kindly supplied by Dr. William Bibb of the Center for Disease Control, Atlanta, Georgia. These serotypes were represented by the following strains:

> Serotype 1, Knoxville, Darby and Olda Serotype 2, Togus Serotype 3, Bloomington Serotype 4, LA-1 Seroptye 5, DIAE Serotype 6, Ottawa 3 (environmental) and Chicago 2 Serotype 7, Chicago 8

Serotype 8, Concord 3

All these organisms were maintained by monthly transfer on slants of charcoal yeast extract (CYE) agar (131). Although elevated carbon dioxide is beneficial in the primary isolation of these bacteria, after prolonged laboratory propagation additional carbon dioxide becomes unnecessary.

Since the above strains were well adapted to the laboratory environment, we found them not to require elevated carbon dioxide. The incubation temperature employed was 35.5°C. The Chicago 8 strain (serogroup 7) was the only one used in the animal studies.

Growth Medium

Although several other media have been described (70, 172), our laboratory has consistently obtained excellent growth of legionnaires' disease bacteria (LDB) in CYE agar. To prepare the CYE agar, 10 g Difco yeast extract, 2.0 g activated charcoal (Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO) (washed with phosphoric and sulphuric acids) and 17 g Difco agar were added to 980 ml distilled water. After a short period of boiling, the mixture was autoclaved at 121°C for fifteen minutes. A solution of 0.40 g L-cysteine HCL in 10 ml of distilled water was filter-sterilized using a 0.22 μ m membrane filter; it was added aseptically and gently mixed with the molten agar base. Also, a 2.5 percent solution of 0.25 g soluble ferric pyrophosphate (Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO) in 10 ml distilled water was filtered-sterilized and added aseptically to the agar base. The pH of the completed medium was adjusted to 6.9 by the addition of sterile 1N sodium hydroxide.

Preparation of Suspensions of Legionella pneumophila

A fresh 24-hour culture on a CYE agar slant (after several successive transfers, 36 h apart) was used as the inoculum which was streaked on one or more plates of CYE agar. The plates were incubated at 35.5°C; when growth was abundant (generally within 36 to 72 hours), the cells were harvested by loop-transfer into a tube containing 10 ml of sterile 0.1 M Tris buffer, pH 8 and washed twice by centrifugation (Sorval superspeed RC2-B, Newton, Connecticut) in the buffer at 6,500 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C.

Recovery of Outer Membrane from Legionella pneumophila

After trying several methods (1, 104, 136) for releasing the outer membrane (OM) from <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u>, the method of Irvin, et. al. (116) was adopted as it consistently yielded good preparations of OMPs.

The washed L. pneumophila cells were suspended in 10 ml of 0.1 M Tris buffer (pH 8), pelleted by centrifugation at 10,000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C, suspended in 10 ml of 0.01 M citrate buffer, pH 2.75, and then held for 30 minutes at room temperature. This was followed by centrifugation at 10,000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C and resuspension of the cells in 10 ml of 0.1 M Tris buffer pH 8 (room temperature). After a wait of 10 minutes at room temperature, the cells were pelleted by centrifugation at 6,500 rpm for 20 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant fluid, containing the OMPs, was then centrifuged at a higher rpm (18,000) for 20 minutes in order to remove any remaining cells, protoplasts or cell fragments. The supernatant fluid was carefully decanted into a sterile, chemically-clean, screw-capped test tube and frozen at -20°C until needed. Proteins in the frozen preparation remained stable for at least one month. The protein concentration, as determined by the method of Lowry <u>et al</u>. (133) employing bovine serum albumin as a standard, was generally about 2 mg/ml.

Electron Microscopy

In an attempt to reveal that the treatment leading to OMPs did not result in cell lysis but rather led to separation of the OM from the cells, the preparations at several stages of the treatment procedure were examined by means of electron microscopy, as recommended by Irvin <u>et al</u>. (115). Cells from three phases (Tris, pH 8.0; citrate, pH 2.75; and Tris, pH 8.0--after citrate) were fixed for 20 minutes at room temperature in one-tenth volume of 5% (vol/vol) glutaraldehyde in 67mM cacodylate buffer (Sigma Chemical Co.), pH 6.7. The fixed cells were pelleted by centrifugation (12,000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C), and resuspended in the glutaraldehyde-cacodylate buffer at room temperature. One and one-half hours later, the fixed cells were pelleted

as before by centrifugation and then suspended in one drop of molten 2% Noble agar (Difco) at 45°C. Upon cooling at room temperature, the congealed agar was washed five times consecutively for 10 minutes each with the cacodylate buffer. The samples were then postfixed with 2% osmium tetraoxide (Polysciences, Inc., Warrington, PA) for two hours at room temperature. After five washes (10 minutes each) in the cacodylate buffer, the specimens were dehydrated in a series of acetone concentrations (30 minutes each in 30, 50, 70, 90 and 100% acetone). To prepare these solutions, freshlydistilled acetone was diluted to 30, 50 and 70% in 67mM cacodylate buffer (pH 6.7); 90% acetone was made by diluting 100% acetone with distilled water. The specimens were then washed twice (20 minutes each) at room temperature in 100% propylene oxide (Polysciences, Inc.) and subsequently Secembedded in a resin, "Vestopa W" (Polysciences, Inc.). itons were cut using a Porter Blum ultramicrotone (MT-2, Sorval) and placed on grids (Polysciences, Inc.).

The sections were stained with lead as described by Reynolds <u>et al.</u> (169). Lead citrate was prepared by placing 1.33 g Pb(NO₃)₂, 1.76 g sodium citrate and 30 ml distilled water in a 50-ml volumetric flask. The resultant suspension was shaken vigorously to insure complete conversion of lead nitrate to lead citrate. After 30 minutes, 8 ml of NaOH was added and the suspension was diluted to the

50-ml mark with distilled water and mixed by inversion. The lead citrate was thus dissolved and the solution, pH 12, was ready for use.

Grids with their sections were stained by floatation on a single drop of staining solution contained in a dental wax-coated Petri dish. The specimens in the dish were protected from the light during the 20-minute staining exposure. Thereafter, the grids were washed sequentially in jets of 0.02 N NaOH and distilled water from plastic wash bottles and allowed to air-dry.

All samples were examined with a Siemens Elmiskop 101 microscope operating with an accelerating potential of 80KV. The use of this microscope, including vital help, was kindly provided by Dr. Louise Higgins, Texas Woman's University, Denton.

Gel Electrophoresis

Sodium dodecyl sulfate discontinuous polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE), as described by Neville and Glossman (154), was utilized for fractionation of the OMPs contained in the Tris buffer solution.

<u>Preparation of gels.</u>--The running gels were prepared in a buffer of 0.0308 N HCl and 0.4244 M Tris, pH 9.18, contained in a side arm flask. To 8.8 g acrylamide and 0.05 g bis-acrylamide was added sufficient buffer to bring the volume to 100 ml; 0.15 ml of N',N',N',N',N'-tetramethyl ethylenediamne (TEMED) was then added. Deaeration was accomplished by attaching a rubber tubing from a side arm flask to a vacuum pump. After deaeration (15 minutes), 0.05 g of ammonium persulfate was added. The solution was dispensed into 10-cm electrophoresis tubes (Bio Rad Labs., Richmond, CA). Approximately one hour was required for the gel to solidify at room temperature.

The stacking gel was prepared using a buffer of $0.0267 \text{ M H}_2\text{SO}_4$ and 0.0541 M Tris containing 3 g acrylamide and 0.2 g bisacrylamide per 100 ml; 0.15 ml TEMED was added. After deaeration (15 minutes), 0.05 g ammonium persulfate was added and the solution was placed, by means of a Pasteur pipette, on the top of the running gel.

The upper reservoir buffer (cathode) contained 0.04 M boric acid, 0.041 M Tris and SDS (1%), pH 8.64. The lower reservoir buffer (anode) was the same as running gel buffer.

Determination of molecular weights of proteins.-- To 0.5 ml (100 μ g) of the OMP preparation in Tris (pH 8.0) was added 10 mg sodium carbonate, 40 mg of SDS and 100 μ l of 2-mercaptoethanol. This mixture, contained in a small glass tube (5 mm diameter), was placed in a boiling water bath for five minutes. The protein solution was applied to the running gel tubes in various volumes, and the loaded gels were then electrophoresed (Bio-Rad Labs., Richmond,

CA) with a constant current of 48 mA for approximately three hours. Gels were stained subsequently with coomassie brilliant (R250) blue (Sigma Chemical Co.) for one hour and destained with a solution of acetic acid (8%), ethanol (25%) and water (67%). Molecular weights were assigned as described by Weber and Osborn (206), utilizing a Dalton Mark IV, SDS molecular weight marker kit (Sigma Chemical Co.) containing the following proteins: bovine albumin (66,000 daltons), egg albumin (45,000), pepsin from porcine stomach mucosa (34,700), trypsinogen from bovine pancrease (24,000), lactoglobulin from bovine milk (18,000), and lysozyme from eqg white (14,300). The extracted OMPs were electrophoresed side by side with the standard. The standard was employed at a level of 25 μ g total protein. The relative mobilities of the standard proteins and of the OMPs were then measured. A plot of molecular weights versus relative mobilities of the standard was made on semilogarithmic graph paper; the molecular weights of the OMPs could then be ascertained from the straight line standard curve.

Animal Studies

Lethal Dose Determination

Following several closely spaced transfers on CYE agar slants, L. pneumophila, serogroup 7 (Chicago 8) was streaked

on Petri plates of CYE agar. When growth was abundant $(36-48h \text{ at } 35.5^{\circ}\text{C})$, the cells were suspended in sterile saline and serial decimal dilutions, from 10^{-1} to 10^{-10} , were prepared in tubes containing 9 ml sterile saline. The optical density of each test tube was measured at a wave-length of 620 nm in a Spectronic 20 spectrophotometer (Bausch and Lomb, Rochester, NY). The instrument was zeroed with sterile saline.

Spread plate counts, in triplicates, were prepared from each dilution by placing 0.1 ml on the surface of CYE agar plates. Without delay, the inoculum was spread over the agar surface with a sterile glass spreading rod and the plates were incubated at 35.5°C until colonies were clearly visible, and thus countable (generally three days). The plates were examined on a Quebec colony counter (American Optical Co., Buffalo, NY); the triplicate set with colonies numbering between 30 and 300 were counted. The colony count per ml was determined by multiplying the average number of colonies on the three countable plates by the reciprocal of the dilution they represented. The result obtained was referred to as the "colony forming units per ml" (cfu) (44, 66). Subsequently, a standard curve was constructed by plotting the spectrophotometer readings against cfus. Thereafter, turbidity readings could be converted directly to cfu.

From each dilution, one ml was injected intraperitoneally into each of five white rats. The rats were young male adults (200 to 300 g each); they were obtained from Dr. J. R. Lott's colony in the Department of Biological Sciences, North Texas State University. Before injection, the fur and skin were disinfected with alcohol. Five rats injected with sterile saline served as the controls. The rats were observed daily until no more deaths occurred. Most deaths occurred within three days. A few rats appeared sick for a couple of days but recovered. The highest dilution which killed all five animals was the end point. Since turbidity readings were made of each dilution and a standard turbidity/cfu plot had been constructed, the lethal end point could be converted to cfu.

Infection of a Rabbit with Legionella pneumophila Serogroup 7

A male New Zealand white rabbit, weighing approximately two kilograms, was injected intraperitoneally with approximately 1.5 x 10⁶ Chicago-8 legionella cells freshly recovered in normal saline from the growth on CYE agar plates. Two days later the rabbit became lethargic and refused to eat. During the next five days, symptoms worsened and treatment with erythromycin was initiated. One hundred mg of erythromycin sulfate was injected intramuscularly twice a day (dose recommended by a local

veterinarian). The rabbit died two days later. An autopsy was performed and samples of tissues of the heart muscle, lung, gastrointestinal tract, brain, liver, spleen and kidney were excised aseptically and fixed in formalin. Prior to initiation of antibiotic treatment, 1 ml of blood was recovered from the marginal ear vein; at autopsy, one ml of blood was recovered aseptically from the heart.

<u>Histology</u>.--Tissues obtained from the rabbit were fixed in 10% formalin for 24 hours and then placed directly into 70% alcohol. The histologic methods employed were those of Ann-Preece (3). For embedding, the tissue was placed in an L-shaped plastic container and warm paraffin poured, about midway, into the container. With a warm forceps, the tissue was oriented in the bottom of the container in the correct plane for sectioning. The mold was transferred to a chilled enamel tray in order to anchor the tissue firmly in place and held flat with the forceps until it maintained its position. The remainder of the paraffin was poured on top of the mold and the mold was transferred to the refrigerator to hasten hardening of the paraffin.

The paraffin-embedded sections were cut on a rotary microtome (American Optical Co., Buffalo, NY). The tissue blocks were chilled on a block of ice and mounted in the vise of the microtome. The block was carefully adjusted to the microtome so that it remained behind the knife edge.

The block holder was firmly set and the feed mechanism adjusted. The knife was fixed in its proper position and the indicator, which regulates the thickness of the sections, was set between 60 and 90 μ m.

The paraffin sections were placed in dishes containing xylene and deparaffinization was carried out in two changes of xylene, two minutes each, followed by two changes of absolute alcohol, two minutes each and one change of 95% alcohol for 30 seconds. The deparaffinized sections were rinsed with 80% alcohol, washed in tap water and then stained with the hematoxylin solution for 4.5 minutes. After staining, the sections were rinsed with tap water, decolorized with acid alcohol (0.5% HCl in 95% ethyl alcohol) and rinsed again with tap water. Ammonium hydroxide was applied for blueing the sections; it was rinsed away after a few minutes with tap water.

The sections were counterstained with a solution of eosin (1.0% in alcohol) and then dehydrated by two changes of 95% alcohol and three changes of absolute alcohol. Three changes of xylene helped to clear the sections. The sections were preserved by fixing them to glass coverslips with Permount (Fisher Scientific Co., Silver Springs, MD). The slides were examined with a Zeiss binocular microscope for signs of histopathology and photographs were taken of appropriate fields by means of an attached camera (M-35, Nikkon, Tokyo, Japan).

Within an hour after death of the rabbit or rat, attempts were made to recover legionellae and other bacteria from the various tissues before they were processed. Plates of CYE agar, blood agar, nutrient agar and eosin methylene blue agar were inoculated by smearing the specimens across the surface of the agar; they were incubated at 35.5°C and observed daily for ten days. Blood specimens were streaked by means of a sterile loop on the agar media.

Agglutinating Antibody Titration

Legionella outer membrane antibody titers were determined using the Widal agglutination test (27). Ten tubes were placed in a rack; 1.8 ml of saline was pipetted into the first tube; one ml was added to each of the other Rabbit antiserum (0.2 ml) to the outer membrane was tubes. placed in the first tube to give a 1:10 dilution; it was mixed gently and one ml of this mixture was pipetted into the second tube. This serial dilution procedure was continued through nine tubes. One ml was discarded from the last tube. The tenth tube contained only cells in saline, representing the antigen control. One ml of a normal saline suspension of L. pneumophila cells (1 x 10⁹/ml) freshly harvested from CYE agar plates, was added to each tube and the contents were mixed by shaking the rack vigorously. After incubation at 37°C for 18 hours, the endpoint was determined by gently flicking the bottom of each tube with a finger tip in order to resuspend the cells that had settled. The last serum dilution showing microscopically visible agglutinates was the endpoint. In contrast, the control tube showed uniform turbidity.

Active Immunity in Rats and Its Persistence

Five male, Sprague-Dawley rats weighing about 200-250 q were injected with 100 µg of OMPs in Freunds complete adjuvant (FCA) into the foot pads. Control animals were injected similarly with 0.5 ml sterile saline. Fourteen days later, serum was obtained from the rats and, at the same time, a booster (100 µg OMPs) of L. pneumophila was injected into the foot pad of each rat. Ten days later a final booster of 100 μ g protein was administered similarly. After seven more days, the rats were injected with a lethal dose (1.5 x 10^6 cells of L. pneumophila). At the same time, two ml of blood was recovered from the tail vein of each The blood was allowed to coagulate and the serum was rat. transferred to small sterile test tubes; it was frozen (-20°C) to await agglutination titration. The control animals died within 24 hours while the immunized animals survived the challenge. Six months later, serum was obtained from the surviving rats, and the animals were again challenged with a lethal dose of L. pneumophila.

Passive Immunization of Rats

Five rats were injected via the foot pad with 100 μ g legionella OMPs in Freunds complete adjuvant. Fourteen days later, 100 μ g OMPs were injected into the foot pads of each rat (91). Further 100 μ g boosters of OMPs were administered every 14 days for two months. Serum was obtained from these rats via the tail vein five weeks after the last immunization. Each of five "virgin" rats were immunized with one ml of immune serum obtained from the former rats. Control animals (five) were given comparable doses of serum from a rat not exposed to <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> or its products. Twenty-four hours later, the immunized and control rats were challenged intraperitoneally (i.p.) with 1.5 x 10⁶ <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> cells freshly harvested from CYE agar plates.

Heterologous Passive Immunity

One New Zealand white rabbit, weighing approximately two kg, was immunized by the intramuscular injection of 100 ug of an emulsion in FCA of the OMPs recovered from <u>L. pneumophila</u> (Chicago-8). Injections were made every 14 days for two months. Ten days after the last immunization, serum was obtained by bleeding the rabbit from the ear vein. The serum was frozen (-20°C) for two days before use. Each of five adult, male Sprague-Dawley rats were injected (i.p.) with one ml of the rabbit antiserum while

five others were injected with normal rabbit serum. Twentyfour hours after immunization, the rats were challenged (i.p.) with 1.5 x 10^6 <u>Legionella</u> cells freshly harvested from CYE agar plates.

Effects of Suspending Vehicle on the Development and Duration of Active and Cell Mediated Immunity to Legionella OMPs; Parallel Leukocyte Responses

Adult Sprague-Dawley rats weighing between 200-250 grams each were used in this experiment. Forty rats were divided into four equal groups of ten. Animals in the three experimental groups were immunized by foot pad injections of OMPs of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> prepared in Freund's complete adjuvant (FCA) (Group 1), a double emulsion adjuvant (DEA) (Group II), or in saline (Group III). Animals in the fourth group (Group IV), the controls, were injected with only saline.

Freund's complete adjuvant-antigen suspensions were made by emulsifying equal volumes of FCA (Difco Laboratories) and the buffered aqueous OMPs. The DEA-antigen was prepared by mixing equal volumes of aqueous OMPs, mineral oil, polyoxyethylene sorbitan monooleate and mannide monooleate (91). The latter two ingredients served as emulsifiers. The mixture was sonicated (Sonifier Cell Disruptor, Heat System Ultrasonics, Inc., Plainview, L.I., NY) by 30-second pulses

every 30 seconds in an ice bath for 10 minutes, at which time the water-in-oil-in-water emulsion was complete. The homogeneity of the DEA emulsion was verified microscopically. A third OM antigen was prepared in 0.9% sterile physiologic saline. All three preparations of antigen contained one mg OMP/ml.

Animals in the test groups (I, II and III) were sensitized by injecting 0.1 ml (100 μ g) of the OMPs into the hind footpads. Fourteen days later, the animals received a booster injection of 100 μ g proteins. Seven days after the latter injection, all rats were challenged with 1.5 x 10⁶ cells of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> freshly harvested from CYE agar plates.

On day zero, just before the injection of OMPs, blood and serum were obtained from the tail veins. Twice a week, blood and serum were collected; just prior to injection and post infection, the animals were bled again. The sera were stored at -20°C until they could be tested serologically.

The methods of Mishell and Shiigi (149) were employed for counting leukocytes. Total leukocyte counts were determined by mixing one ml of blood recovered from the tail vein with nine ml of 3 percent acetic acid. Using a Pasteur pipette, the cell suspension was allowed to flow under the coverslip of the haemocytometer. Cells were counted in each of the four large squares and the average

number per large square was determined, yielding the number of cells per 10 ml.

Thus

Cells/ml = average number per large square x 10 x l/dilution

In preparation for the differential cell counts, the blood was smeared on an alcohol-acetone-cleaned glass slide and allowed to air dry. The slide was then submerged in a hematoxylin-eosin staining solution (Camco Quik Stain II, American Scientific Products, McGrew Park, IL) for 90 seconds. The specimen was allowed to air dry and the various types of leukocytes (lymphoctyes, neutrophils, monocytes and eosinophils) were enumerated. A total of 200 cells were counted at random using the 4-mm objective lens and 10X occular lens of the Zeiss light microscope.

<u>Cellular Immune Response of Rats to OMPs</u> of Legionella pneumophila

The development of delayed hypersensitivity was tested in ten rats immunized according to the schedule outlined for inducing active immunity. Two days after the final booster, the immunized and control rats were injected with 10 μ g OMPs (0.1 ml) intradermally into their shaved flanks. The reactions were noted 24, 48 and 72 hours later and measured (diameters of induration/erythema) at 48 hours, the time of the peak response. Five days after challenge injections (i.p.) of 1.5×10^6 <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> cells, $10 \mu g$ of OMPs (0.1 ml) were again injected (i.d.) into another site on the shaved flank of each rat. As before, the extent of induration and erythema was observed at 24, 48 and 72 hours, and measured at 48 hours.

CHAPTER III

RESULTS

Outer Membrane Proteins of Legionellae To ascertain whether the citrate-Tris treatment of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> resulted in the release of the outer membrane into the supernant, electron microscopy was performed at different stages of the procedure.

Figure 1 reveals untreated cells, recovered directly from CYE agar, to possess a typical gram-negative cell wall morphology with an intact, adherent outer membrane. In Figure 2, before the citrate-Tris treatment, the Tris-washed cells are seen to be morphologically similar to the controls. After exposure to citrate-Tris (Figures 3, 4), there are clear indications of OM separation. In no case was cell lysis detected by the photomicrographs. Thus, the proteins recovered can be assumed to have arisen from the outer membrane. The materials released by the citrate-Tris treatment consistently yielded at least two milligrams of protein per ml buffer.

Legionella Outer Membrane Profiles

Figure 5 represents sodium dodecyle sulfate gel electrophoresis of standard proteins. Samples of the Dalton

Figure 1. Thin Sections of Legionella Cells, Recovered Directly in Phospate-Buffered Saline (pH 8) from CYE Agar.

Notice the trilamellar inner and outer membrane characteristic of gram-negative bacteria (50,000 X).



Figure 2. Thin Sections of Legionella Cells Suspended in Tris Buffer (pH 8) Prior to Citrate-Tris Treatment

Note the morphologic similarity with the freshly-washed cells seen in Figure 1.


Figure 3. Thin Sections of Legionella Cells Exposed to 10mM Citrate Buffer (pH 2.75)

Note signs of separation of the outer membrane from the cells.



. . . .

Figure 4. Thin Sections of <u>Legionella</u> Cells Exposed to 10mM Citrate Buffer (pH 2.75) and Resuspended in 100 mM Tris Buffer (pH 8)

Note that portions of the outer membrane are absent, some being only marginally associated with the remaining cell envelope.



. . . .

Figure 5. Determination of Molecular Weight of Standard Protein by Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis

Twenty-five µg proteins of the standard protein mixture were applied to 8.8% polyacrylamide gel, eletrophoresed in a discontinuous buffer system, stained with Coomasie blue (R250) and relative mobilities calculated.



Mark IV molecular weight marker kit were loaded onto 8.8% discontinuous SDS polyacrylamide gels and run as described in the Methods section.

The protein profiles of the outer membranes generated by the SDS-PAGE procedure demonstrated distinct strain and serogroup differences, although the eight major serogroups of L. pneumophila were found to share some of the proteins.

Close scrutiny of the photographs of the gels (Figure 6) reveals bands of varying resolution and intensity. They can be conveniently called major and minor proteins based upon their prominence in the stained gels. Thus the Knoxville strain of serogroup 1 revealed two major bands and at least seven lesser bands. Another good example of this is strain DAIE of serogroup 5 with five major and six minor proteins.

Interpretation of the similarities and disparities of the OMPs from the eleven strains is facilitated by the tabulation in Table I. The tabulation indicates that all three strains of serogroup 1 share proteins of 24, 20 and 19 Kd; the two strains of serogroup 6 share six proteins (39, 26, 24, 19, 14 and 11 Kd), leaving nine proteins of Ottawa-3 and five of Chicago-2 not shared. One major protein of 24,000 daltons (24 Kd) was found in common among all eleven strains tested. Molecular weights of proteins shared by four or more of the strains include <u>56</u>, <u>47</u>, <u>45</u>, <u>39</u>, <u>28</u>, Figure 6. SDS-PAGE of <u>Legionella pneumophila</u> Outer Membranes

Following treatment with 10 mM citrate buffer (pH 2.75), the cells were suspended in Tris buffer (pH 8) and the outer membrane proteins were solubilized for five minutes in SDS/ sodium carbonate at 100°C. Twenty-five μ g of protein were applied to each tube. The gels were stained with Coomassie blue (R250) and decolorized with ethyl alcohol/acetic acid/ water. First lane (S) represents the standard proteins: bovine albumin (66Kd), egg albumin (45 Kd), pepsin (34.7 Kd), trypsinogen (24 Kd), lactoglobulin (18.4 Kd) and lysozyme (14.3 Kd). The remaining lanes represent proteins from the test strains, as follows: K = Knoxville, O₁ = OLDA, D₁ = Darby, T = Togus, B = Bloomington, L = Los Angeles, D₂ = DIAE, O₂ = Ottawa, Chicago-2, 7 = Chicago-8, and 8 = Concord-3.



. .

TABLE I

DISTRIBUTION BY MOLECULAR WEIGHT (Kd) OF PROTEINS IN POLYACRYLAMIDE GEL ELECTROPHOROGRAMS OF Legionella pneumophila OUTER MEMBRANE PROTEINS

47		XX			XX	XX					XX —
48			XX					×			
49	XX							XX			
50					XX		XX			XX	
52	XX								XX		XX
53								XX			
54		ХХ									
56					ХХ	XX	XX		xx		
66							XX			XX	XX
69					XX					XX	
. 11						XX					
73										XX	
76										XX	
Strain (Serogroup)	Knoxville (1)	olda (l)	Darby (1)	Togus (2)	Bloomington (3)	LA-1 (4)	Daie (5)	ОТ-З (6)	CHI-2 (6)	CHI-8 (7)	Concord-3 (8)

IContinued
TABLE

													Contraction of the local data
Strain (Serogroup)	45	43	42	41	39	38	37	36	34	33 3	31	29	28
Knoxville (1)	XX												ХХ
01da (1)		ХХ		XX				ХХ					
Darby (1)	XX					XX	•						ХХ
Togus (2)	XX												ХХ
Bloomington (3)		XX										XX	
LA-1 (4)		XX								XX			XX
Daie (5)			XX		XX		XX			XX			
OT-3 (6)	XX		XX		XX		XX					XX	
CHI-2 (6)					XX						XX		
CHI-8 (7)									XX		XX		
Concord-3 (8)					xx		XX					XX	

TABLE I--Continued

Strain (Serogroup)	27	26	24	22.5	22	20.5	20	19	18.5	18	17.5	17	16
Knoxville (1)			XX		XX		XX	XX					
01da (1)	XX		XX				XX	XX	XX				XX
Darby (1)			XX	XX			XX	ХХ	XX		XX	XX	
Togus (2)			XX			XX				XX		XX	
Bloomington (3)			XX	XX	XX	XX				XX			XX
LA-1 (4)		XX	XX							ХХ			
Daie (5)	XX		XX				XX	ХХ				XX	
OT-3 (6)		XX	ХХ			XX		XX		ХХ	-		XX
CHI-2 (6)	XX	XX	XX		x			XX	XX				
CHI-8 (7)			XX		XX	XX		XX	XX			XX	
Concord-3 (8)			XX				XX	XX				XX	

75

. . .

Strain (Serogroup)	14	13	. 12	11.5	11	10
Knoxville (1)			XX			
Olda (1)	XX		XX			
Darby (1)	XX					
Togus (2)	XX			XX		XX
Bloomington (3)			XX			ХХ
LA-1 (4)			XX			ХХ
Daie (5)						
OT-3 (6)	XX				XX	
CHI-2 (6)	XX				XX	
CHI-8 (7)					XX	
Concord-3 (8)	XX		XX			

TABLE I--Continued

24, 20.5, 20, 19, 18.5, 18, 17, 14 and 12 Kd. In serogroups 1 and 6, which are represented by more than one strain, there appear to be some common OMPs. This is visually apparent in the gels (Figures 7, 8).

Animal Studies

Investigations of host response to <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> were confined to the Chicago-8 strain of serogroup 7.

Determination of Lethal Dose (LD)

Surface plates inoculated with 0.1 ml of the serial dilutions of the suspension of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> were incubated at 35.5°C for 48 hours, at which time colonial development was maximal. The dilution 10^7 yielded the most countable triplicate plates of which there appeared 150, 135 and 165 colonies, an average of 150; thus the undiluted population was approximately 15 x 10^9 cfu/ml. Since all rats injected with one ml of dilutions of 10^{-4} or less died and those injected with dilutions of 10^{-5} or higher lived (Table II), the end point was 10^{-4} (OD approximately 0.106). In Figure 9 it can be seen that a turbidity of 0.106 equated as 1.5×10^6 cfu/ml, the lethal dose (LD) for the rat under the conditions employed.

Infection of a Rabbit with Legionella pneumophila

Within 48 hours after an intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of a rat LD (1.5 x 10^6 cfu) of L. pneumophila, the

Figure 7. SDS-PAGE of Legionella pneumophila Outer Membrane Fractions from Serogroup 1 [Strains Knoxville (K), Olda (O_1) and Darby (D_1)]

See Figure 6 for description of treatment and preparation.



. .

Figure 8. SDS-PAGE of <u>Legionella pneumophila</u> Outer Membrane Fractions from Serogroup 6 [Strains Ottawa-3 (O) and Chicago-2 (6)]

See Figure 6 for description of treatment and preparation.



TABLE II

TITRATION OF THE LETHAL DOSE OF Legionella pneumophila SEROGROUP 7

^{OD} 620	Dilution	Survivors/death*
0.279	10 ⁻¹	0/5
0.201	10 ⁻²	0/5
0.119	10 ⁻³	0/5
0.106	10 ⁻⁴	0/5
0.087	10 ⁻⁵	5/0
0.037	10 ⁻⁶	5/0
0.024	10 ⁻⁷	5/0
0.019	10 ⁻⁸	5/0
0.009	10 ⁻⁹	5/0

*0.1 ml of each dilution was injected i.p. (five rats per group).

Figure 9. Densitometer Calibration of Legionella Suspension Used for Determination of Lethal Dose

One ml injected i.p. into each of five rats and the lethal effect noted. The optical density of each dilution was determined.



rabbit became listless and stopped eating. By the sixth day the rabbit could no longer stand, its breathing was labored and its eyes and nose were inflamed. Administration at that time of the antibiotic erythromycin was not helpful, and the animal was nearly moribund 48 hours later, following four injections of the antibiotic, whereupon the rabbit was anesthetized with ether and autopsied. Blood and tissues were recovered.

Pathology

Heart.--Multiple sections of the myocardium revealed scattered areas of degeneration in which the normal fibrous architecture was replaced by small spindeloid cells together with some round cells (monocytes and lymphocytes), neutrophils and eosinophils; however, inflammatory cells (giant cells and fibroblasts) were relatively uncommon. The remainder of the myocardium was composed of small, uniform muscle cells with no obvious abnormalities (Figure 10).

Lungs.--Multiple sections of lung tissue (Figure 11) revealed patchy areas of atelectasis and a marked diffuse interstitial pneumonitis (as found in humans with <u>Legionella</u> pneumonia) characterized by severely thickened alveolar walls with many neutrophils and eosinophils as well as a few plasma cells and lymphocytes.

Figure 10. Photomicrographs of Heart Tissue from a Rabbit Infected with Legionella pneumophila and from a Control Rabbit

The tissues were preserved in formaldehyde, embedded in paraffin, sectioned, dehydrated and stained with hemtoxylineosine. They were examined by means of a 10 X ocular lens and a 4 mm (40 X) objective lens. Top photomicrograph is of normal heart; bottom is from the Legionella-infected animal.



Figure 11. Photomicrograph of Lung Tissue from Rabbit Infected with Legionella pneumophila. See Figure 10 for description of methods.

Top photomicrograph of normal lung shows thin alveolar cells.

Bottom photomicrograph shows thickened alveolar cells, indicating pneumonitis.



×

<u>Gastrointestinal tract</u>.--Sections of the stomach, small bowel and colon revealed early superficial autolytic changes of the mucosa. No inflammation or other histopathology was evident.

Brain.--The histologic picture of the brain appeared normal, showing an orderly arrangement of acini lined by a uniform, cubocolumnar epithelium with no inflammation.

Liver .-- The lobular architecture was intact throughout the liver sections (Figure 12). Mild congestion was evident. Scattered at random throughout the parenchyma, predominantly within the sinusoids, were clusters of Kupffer cells together with some lymphocytes. Some of the clusters were relatively large and contained swollen Kupffer cells, distinctly epithelioid in appearance. These so-called "granulomas," which did not contain multinucleated cells, are characteristically seen with a wide variety of systematic diseases to which the liver responds; these include chemical and mechanical inflammation, neoplasia and immune disorders as well as infection A few of the heptocytes were found to have enlarged (174).hyperchromatic nuclei probably resulting from a nonspecific There were no indications of necrosis, reactive reaction. inflammation, metastatic tumor or cirrhosis.

Spleen.--Figure 13 reveals the spleen to be markedly congested; the red pulp contained clumps of dark, golden-

Figure 12. Photomicrograph of Liver Tissue from Rabbit Infected with Legionella pneumophila

See Figure 10 for description of methods. Note granulomas and mild congestion with clustering of Kupffer cells.



Figure 13. Photomicrograph of Spleen Tissue from Rabbit Infected with Legionella pneumophila

See Figure 10 for description of methods. Notice the pigmented macrophages.



ś

brown pigmented areas with numerous erythrocytes. A few pigmented macrophages were evident. No histopathologic signs of malignancy can be discerned.

<u>Kidney</u>.--Sections of the kidney revealed a mild hyperemia. Small foci of calcification were noted in the tubules, although the tubular and glomerular architecture was generally intact. No inflammation or other histopathologic changes were evident.

Altogether, the foregoing histopatholgic findings indicate that the rabbit most likely suffered from septcicemia and respiratory collapse.

Bacteriological Findings

The various tissue specimens were inoculated on different bacteriologic media, including nutrient agar, eosin methylene blue agar, blood agar and CYE-agar. After several days there appeared on some of the media a few non-legionellae; they probably arose from external contamination. The CYE-agar inoculated with blood and lung smears yielded colonies, not seen in the other bacteriologic media and characteristics of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u>. The consistency of the colonies was sticky, but they were not difficult to subtransfer to CYE-agar. These isolates, stained by the Gimenez method (88), revealed bright red bacteria against a light-blue background. In these stained smears were seen slender rods, short to medium in length, and occasional filamentous forms. Later, these isolates were found to agglutinate when added to a sample of blood serum from the infected rabbit. Of all the specimens examined, only the lungs and blood yielded <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u>. The dead rabbit's serum agglutinating antibody titer, employing a suspension of the homologous stock Chicago-8 strain, was determined to be 1:80.

Rat Immunization

The pooled agglutinating antibody titer of rats immunized with OMP was measured at intervals employing serum recovered from the tail vein. There was a good antibody response to the primary and booster injections of the OMP as seen by a final agglutinating titer of 1:1280 on the day of challenge. These data are seen in Table III.

This initial study indicates that OMP admixed with immunoadjuvant induced active immunity sufficient to protect the rats upon challenge with the homologous strain of \underline{L} . <u>pneumophila</u> (Table IV). The single death in the immunized group occurred few minutes after infection due to unknown causes.

That this protection was at least partly mediated by humoral factors was shown in experiments in which transfer of serum from actively immunized animals (Table V) to nonimmuned syngeneic rats conferred protection to infection

TABLE III

ANTIBODY TITERS OF RATS INJECTED WITH OUTER MEMBRANE PROTEINS OF Legionella pneumophila*

Dave Post	Preparation In	jected
Injection	FCA** Plus OMP	Saline
0	0	0
4	10***	0
7	40	0
11	160	0
14	80	0
18	320	0
24	640	0
31	1280	0

*Each group contained five rats. Blood sera were pooled prior to the Widal test. The outer membrane proteins were mixed with adjuvant; 0.1 ml (100 μ g OMP) was injected into the footpads. Control animals received 0.1 ml sterile saline. A booster was administered on the 14th day, and the rats were challenged with 1.5 x 10⁶ Legionella pneuphila cells on the 31st day.

**FCA = Freunds Complete Adjuvant.

***Reciprocal of agglutinating endpoint.

TABLE IV

PROTECTION AGAINST THE LETHALITY OF Legionella pneumophila IN RATS ACTIVELY IMMUNIZED WITH OUTER MEMBRANE PROTEIN*

	Number of Ra	ats
Treatment	Alive	Dead
Saline (Control)	0	5
FCA + OMP	4**	1

*The rats had been immunized with outer membrane protein from Legionella pneumophila and were challenged with 1 LD of the same strain 31 days later.

**One rat died during manipulations at the start of this test.
TABLE V

ANTIBODY TITERS OF RATS INJECTED WITH OUTER MEMBRANE PROTEINS OF Legionella pneumophila (ANTISERA USED FOR PASSIVE IMMUNIZATION)*

David Dest	Preparation Injec	cted
Injection	FCA + OMP	Saline
0	0	0
14	80**	0
28	160	0
42	640	0
56	1280	0
91	640	0

*Each group contained five rats. Blood sera were pooled prior to the Widal test. The outer membrane proteins (OMP) were mixed with the adjuvant; 0.1 ml (100 μ g OMP) was injected into the footpads. Control animals received 0.1 ml sterile saline. A booster was administered on the 14th day and subsequent injections made every 14 days for two months. The rats were challenged with 1.5 x 10⁶ Legionella pneumophila cells on the 91st day.

**Reciprocal of agglutinating endpoint.

with L. pneumophila, Chicago 8 (Table VII). Rats could

TABLE VII

HOMOLOGOUS AND HETEROLOGOUS PASSIVE PROTECTION OF RATS AGAINST A LETHAL DOSE OF Legionella pneumophila USING ANTISERA AGAINST OUTER MEMBRANE PROTEIN FROM THE SAME STRAIN

	Number of	Rats
Treatment*	Alive**	Dead***
Normal Rat Serum	0	5
Rat Immune Serum	5	0
Normal Rabbit Serum	0	5
Rabbit Immune Serum	5	0

*Five male rats injected intramuscularly with 1 ml of serum from synegeneic donor or from rabbit immediately before challenge of 1.5×10^6 cells.

**Survived without signs of infection for several months.

***Died within 24 hours.

also be protected with heteroantisera. Serum from rabbits that had been repeatedly immunized with OMP belonging to Chicago 8 (Table VI) protected against the lethal effect of <u>L. pneumophila</u>, Chicago 8 in rats (Table VII). The results indicate that slight signs of illness were noted during the first 24 hours after challenge. However, both homologous and heterologous sera were protective.

TABLE VI

AGGLUTINATION TITERS OF RABBITS IMMUNIZED WITH OUTER MEMBRANE PROTEINS FROM Legionella pneumophila SEROGROUP 7*

Day of Immunization	Reciprocal of Aggl. Titer	Control**
0	0	0
14	640	0
28	ND***	ND
42	ND	ND
56	ND	ND
70	ND	ND
80	1280	0

*Antigenic preparation: OMP in FCA.

**No antibody was detected in the control rabbit.
***ND = Not Done.

Duration of Active Immunity

Six months after surviving a lethal dose of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumo-phila</u>, the four animals which had received FCA + OMP were once again challenged with 1.5×10^6 cells, freshly har-vested. Although the animals looked sick for 24 hours, all survived, thereby demonstrating persistence of active immunity for at least six months. No antibody titers were

obtained from the rats following the second challenge. While low, the titers at the time of the second challenge indicated that a residual protective immunity toward these proteins remained. These results can be seen in Table VIII.

TABLE VIII

PERSISTENCE OF OMP-INDUCED ACTIVE IMMUNITY TOWARD Legionella pneumophila

Treatment	Agglutination Titer* (Reciprocal)	Effect**
FCA + OMP	80	4/0
Saline (control)	0	0/5
*180 days af was 1:1280).	ter first challenge (titer	at that time

**Number survivors/number dead.

Antibody and Cell-Mediated Immunity

Forty adult Sprague-Dawley rats were divided into four groups of ten animals each. Each animal in the first two groups was immunized by an injection in the hind footpad of 100 μ g of <u>Legionella</u> OMP contained in an immunoadjuvant, either FCA (Group A) or a DEA (Group B); animals in Group C were similarly injected with 100 μ g of OMP in saline. Rats in Group D served as saline-injected controls. Fourteen days later all procedures were repeated. Seven days after the booster immunization all rats were challenged with 1.5 x 10⁶ <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> cells injected intraperitoneally. Throughout the course of this experiment the following experimental parameters were measured: total leukocyte count (Figure 14); differential leukocyte count (Figure 15); agglutinating antibody titer to <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> (Figure 16); and the abiity to survive the challenge of a lethal dose (Table XII).

Total and Differential Leukocyte Counts

All animals had total leukocyte and differential counts in the expected range before immunization with OMP. Four days after immunization, total leukocyte counts (Table IX and Figure 14) had increased in all three test groups, peaking at day seven and returning to near the preimmunization levels by day 14. After the booster immunization on day 14, this pattern recurred. Upon challenge with <u>L. pneumophila</u> on day 21, the leukocyte counts of all the sensitized animals sharply increased; by the fifth day post-challenge, the leukocyte counts, as seen in Table IX, had reached: 24.1 ± 2.8 (Group A), 28.5 ± 8.2 (Group B), and 42.9 ± 7.4 (Group C) x $10^6/ml$. Leukocyte counts of the control rats remained fairly constant throughout the experiment. Within 24 hours after the challenge, all the control animals had died.

The differential leukocyte counts are summarized in Table X and Figure 15. The animals immunized with OMP in either adjuvant demonstrated a decrease in the percentage

TABLE IX

TOTAL LEUKOCYTE COUNT (x 10⁶/ml)

		an a		
Day of Experiment	Group A	Group B	Group C	Group D
0	7.63 ± 1.3	7.79 ± 1.5	6.85 ± 0.9	6.15 ± 1.1
4	9.02 ± 1.0	9.81 ± 1.0	9.35 ± 1.3	6.16 ± 1.4
7	12.88 ± 2.4	11.85 ± 1.1	10.58 ± 1.3	6.22 ± 0.6
11	11.89 ± 2.5	9.97 ± 1.0	9.84 ± 1.2	5.82 ± 0.8
14	8.56 ± 1.7	8.61 ± 1.1	8.92 ± 1.2	5.95 ± 0.6
18	10.33 ± 3.0	11.33 ± 1.6	10.69 ± 1.7	6.05 ± 0.6
21	11.95 ± 2.6	12.36 ± 1.3	14.53 ± 2.5	•
26	24.14 ± 2.8	28.53 ± 8.2	42.98 ± 7.4	• • •
200 1 000				

See legend for Figure 14.

Figure 14. Total Leukocyte Response to Immunization with Legionella pneumophila Outer Membrane Proteins Followed by Challenge

Each rat was injected with 100 μ g OMPs contained in FCA (A), DEA (B), or saline (C). Group D animals were injected with sterile saline. The animals were challenged with 1.5 x 10^6 freshly-harvested <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> cells. All control rats died within 24 hours. The leukocyte counts represent the average of 10 rats ± S.D. It should be noted that on day 16, 10 μ g OMPs in saline were injected intradermally in order to check for delayed hypersensitivity (see Figure 16).



TABLE X

DIFFERENTIAL TOTAL (% OF TOTAL)

		Da	0			Day	4	
Group	Г	Z	¥	<u>ы</u>	Г	N	W	ы
A	78.8 ± 26.2	15.1 ± 5.0	3.6 1.2	2.5 ± 0.8	62.7 5.1 20.9	21.6 ± 7.2	5.9 + 1.9	4
μ	7.7.9 25.9	16.3 ± 5.4	3.0 1.0	2.8 1.6 0.9	69.2 ± 23.0	19.2 ± 6.4	6.5 + 2.2	5.1 1.6 1.6
U	81.9 27.3	12.6 ± 4.3	4.2 1.3 1.3	1.3 + 0.4	73.4 ± 24.5	14.6 ± 4.9	6.9 + 2.3	5.1 $^{\pm}$ 1.7
Ω	80.6 ± 26.7	13.4 ++ 4.4	4.1 1.8	1.9 + 0.6	79.8 + 26.4	14.5 ± 4.8	3.4 ± 1.1	2.3 + 0.7

107

•

TABLE X--Continued

	ы	2.5 0.4 .8	2.1 0.7	2.9 0.8	3•1 1-0 1-
14	W	3.9 1.3	6.3 2.2	7.5 2.5 2.5	4 • 0
Дау	N	15.4 ± 5.1	16.5 ± 5.4	12.4 ± 4.1	13.8 4 ⁺ 6
	I	78.2 26.0	75.1 25.0	79.7 20.5	79.1
	ы	3.4 1.1	4.6 1.5	3.3 ± 1.1	1.8 + 5
11	W	5.6 1.8	5.4 ± 1.7	5.8 1.9	2.7 ±
Day	N	17.5 5.8	19.6 ± 6.5	13.1 + 4.4	16.5 +
	Ц	71.5 $2\frac{1}{4}.5$	78.4 ± 26.1	77.8 ± 25.9	78.8
	ы	7.1 2.3	6.9 1.3 2.3	4.9 + 1.6	1.6 +
7	W	8 5 + 2 8	8.1 + 2.5	6.1 ± 2.2	
Day	z	24.9 ++ 8.3	22.5 ± 70.5	19.1 ± 6.4	13.1
	ы	59.5 19.8 19.8	$\begin{array}{c} 62.5\\ \pm\\ 20.8 \end{array}$	$69.9 \\ \pm \\ 23.2$	82.0
	Group	A	щ	U	0

TABLE X--Continued*

		Day	18	<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>		рау	21			Day	26	
Group	Г	N	£	ы	Ц	N	W	ы	Г	N	W	ы
A	80.3 ± ± 26.7	11.0 ± 3.6	5.5 1.8	2.9 ± 0.9	77.1 ± 25.7	12.9 ± 4.3	6 • 2 + 2 • 0	3.8 $^{\pm}$ 1.2	31.7 ± 10.5	50.3 ± 16.7	11.6 ± 3.8	6.4 + 2.1
£ م	79.4 ± 26.4	16.6 \pm 5.4	4•4 ± 1•5	1.6 ± 0.6	78.5 ± 26.2	14.7 ± 4.9	4.1 ± 1.3	$\begin{array}{c} 2.5 \\ \pm \\ 0.9 \end{array}$	35.5 ± 11.8	4.5 14.9	14.3 ± 4.7	5.2 1.3
ပ	82.7 ± 27.5	10.8 ± 3.6	3.1 $^{\pm}$ 1.0	3.4 + 1.1	81.7 ± 27.1	12.5 ± 4.1	3.6 ± 1.2	2.2 ± 0.7	47.5 ± 15.8	46.2 ± 15.3	3.8 ± 1.2	2.5 0.8
Q	79.4 ± 26.1	14.3 ± 4.7	4.2 ± 1.3	2.1 ± 0.7	• •	• •	· ·	• •	•••	•••	•••	•••
*L A=group with OM	=lymphoc injecte P in sal	ytes; Ned with ine; D=	N=neutr OMP ir =group	rophils; n FCA; n injecte	H=monc 3=group	cytes; injecte saline	E=eosi ed with (contr	nophils N OMP ir col)	bEA; C	=group	injecte	ם. קי

Figure 15. Differential Leukocyte Response to Immunization with <u>Legionella pneumophila</u> Outer Membrane Proteins Followed by Challenge

See legend of Table X.



of lymphocytes concomitant with an increase in the neutrophil response after the primary dose; however, the lymphocyte response of animals in Group C (OMP in saline) was hardly apparent. By day 14, the differentials of all three groups of animals had returned to the values of the saline control animals. The booster injection had little effect on the differential counts of any of the rats. After challenge with <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> (day 21), a dramatic reduction in the percentage of lymphocytes and a marked increase in the percentage of neutrophils was seen; by day 5 post-challenge, the lymphocyte/neutrophil ratio had reversed itself.

Antibodies with specificity for the immunizing strain of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> could be detected in immunized rats. The data in Table XI and Figure 16 indicate that primary sensitization with OMP emulsified in either FCA or DEA resulted in the production of antibody titers substantially greater than those induced by the injection of OMP in saline. This was most apparent after the booster immunization which resulted in titers of 1:1280 for Groups A and B and 1:640 for Group C. After challenge, the antibody titers of animals immunized with either FCA-OMP or DEA-OMP rose rapidly, reaching 1:2560 five days later. Animals immunized with the saline-OMP were less responsive than those receiving the adjuvant preparations, revealing a post-challenge titer of 1:1280.

TABLE XI

ANTIBODY RESPONSE OF RATS IMMUNIZED WITH OUTER MEMBRANE PROTEINS FROM Legionella pneumophila

Day	A*	B*	С*	D*
0	0	0	0	0
4	10	10	10	0
7	40	40	20	0
11	80	80	40	0
14	320	160	160	0
18	1280	1280	640	0
21	640	640	320	0
26	2560	2560	1280	0**

*Ten rats per group immunized with FCA-OMP (A), DEA-OMP (B), OMP-saline (C) and saline only (D). Reciprocal pooled agglutination titer by group

**All animals died within 24 hours

Figure 16. Antibody Response of Rats Immunized with <u>Legionella pneumophila</u> Outer Membrane Proteins and Subsequently Challenged with the Homologous Strain

This page has been inserted during digitization.

Either the original page was missing or the original pagination was incorrect.

Protection After Challenge

Unprotected control rats demonstrated signs of illness less than 12 hours after injection of a lethal dose of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> and died within 24 hours. Rats immunized with OMP in saline evidenced signs of weakness, lethargy and lassitude approximately 24 hours after challenge. Their fur appeared ruffled and a discharge from the eyes and nose was evident; however, they gradually recovered and all survived. Animals immunized with either FCA or DEA plus OMP demonstrated no outward signs of illness and survived (see Table XII).

TABLE XII

	PROTEINS	
Preparation Administered	Challenge Dose	No. Survivors/ Total
OMP + FCA	1.5×10^6	10/10
OMP + DEA	1.5×10^{6}	10/10*
OMP + Saline	1.5 x 10 ⁶	10/10**
Saline	1.5 x 10 ⁶	0/10***

PROTECTION AGAINST A LETHAL DOSE OF Legionella pneumophila IN RATS IMMUNIZED WITH LEGIONELLA OUTER MEMBRANE PROTEINS

*No clinical signs of illness.

Severe clinical signs of illness with survival. *All died within 24 hours.

Skin Test

Table XIII and Figure 17 show the extent of the dermal response to the OMP of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> injected intradermally into animals already immunized with OMP emulsified in FCA or DEA, or mixed with saline. All immunized animals exhibited an area of erythema and subcutaneous swelling (induration) within one to three hours after the shocking dose of an intradermal injection of 10 μ g OMP in 0.1 ml normal saline. At 24 hours, the intensity and area of edema had increased;

TABLE XIII

CELL-MEDIATED IMMUNE RESPONSE OF RATS SENSITIZED TO LEGIONELLA OUTER MEMBRANE PROTEINS

	Skin React	cion (mm)*
Sensitizing Antigen	Erythema	Induration
FCA + OMP	7.9 (5.3-10.5) ± 2.6	4.5 (3.0- 6.0) ± 1.5
DEA + OMP	12.7 (8.5-16.9) ± 4.2	8.6 (5.8-11.4) ± 2.8
Saline + OMP	6.5 (4.4- 8.6) ± 2.1	4.2 (2.8- 5.6) ± 1.4
Saline	2.1 (1.4- 2.8) ± 0.7	0.6 (0.3- 0.9) ± 0.2

*Intradermal injection of 10 μ g outer membrane protein in 0.1 ml normal saline; reactions measured at 48 hours. Diameters of erythema and induration measured in mm; expressed as mean (range) ± standard deviation. Ten rats per group.

slight hemorrhage and necrosis were also observed. The peak response was seen at 48 hours. The skin test responses in animals immunized with OMP in either FCA or saline were Figure 17. Detection of Delayed Hypersensitivity in Rats Injected with Legionella pneumophila Outer Membrane Proteins and Subsequently Challenged with Homologous Strain

The animals represented here are the same ones in which leukocyte counts (Figures 14 and 15) and OMP antibody titers (Figure 16) were measured. On day 16 each rat was injected intradermally with 10 μ g OMPs; the responses were measured 48 hours later (day 18). The range of responses reported is the average of 10 rats \pm S.D.



similar; the responses from DEA/OMP, however, were substantially greater (erythema in Group B animals was 61 and 78 percent greater than in Group A and C animals, respectively; similarly, induration was 91 and 98 percent greater.) A slight area of swelling and erythema did appear after six hours in the nonsensitized animals (Group D); however, this response waned before 48 hours had elapsed.

After an intraperitoneal injection of 1 LD of <u>L</u>. <u>pneu-mophila</u>, the animals which survived the challenge were skin-tested as described in the Methods section. Once again, all animals that were immunized exhibited an area of erythema and soft subcutaneous swelling. Within 24 hours there was a rapid increase in intensity and size of the subcutaenous swelling. Skin reactions were seen in all test animals and were measured at 48 hours, the time of the peak response. Results are given in Table XIV and Figure 18.

Skin reactions were induced in rats sensitized with OMPs and LD bacteria (Chicago 8) by intradermal injection of OMPs (Figure 19). The time sequence of skin reactions resembled that for a delayed type reaction. Induration was maximal between 24 and 48 hours after injection of the skin test agents (OMPs) and diminished slowly.

TABLE XIV

SKIN REACTION TO <u>LEGIONELLA</u> OUTER MEMBRANE PROTEINS AFTER CHALLENGE WITH LIVING LEGIONELLAE

	Skin Reactio	on (mm)*
Sensitizing Antigen	Erythema	Induration
FCA + OMP	10.3 (6.9-13.7) ± 3.4	6.8 (4.6- 9.0) ± 2.2
DEA + OMP	14.9 (10.0-19.8) ± 4.9	11.1 (7.4-14.8) ± 3.7
Saline + OMP	10.1 (6.5-13.7) ± 3.6	7.3 (4.9- 9.7) ± 2.4
Saline (Control)	•••••	

*Animals received intradermal injections of 10 µg outer membrane protein in 0.1 ml normal saline; reactions were measured at 48 hours. Reactions are expressed as mean (range) ± standard deviation. Ten rats per group were employed. Figure 18. Delayed Hypersensitivity Reaction after Challenge with Viable Legionellae

Five days after challenge (1.5 x 10^6 cells) the rats were injected intradermally with 10 µg OMPs; the responses were measured 48 hours later (day 28). The range of responses reported is the average of 10 rats ± S.D.

Compare with Figure 17.



Figure 19. Skin Test Response to Outer Membrane Proteins of Legionella pneumophila

This rat was from Group B. The smaller dermal reaction was read on day 18 of the study. The greater reaction, revealing hemorrhage and necrosis, occurred after the animal had survived an infectious challenge.



.

CHAPTER IV

DISCUSSION

The method employed for the isolation and recovery of proteins from cellular structures is critical. However, the method we adopted for releasing the outer membranes from L. pneumophila is the one of Irvin, et al. (116) employed on Escherichia coli, a much different bacterium than L. pneumophila, although both are gram-negative bacilli and thus possess outer membranes. The key step in the process is the exposure of washed cells to 10 mM citrate buffer (pH 2.75) for 30 minutes, causing the separation of at least portions of the outer membrane to be released from the cell envelope as blebs or fragments. [It is of interest to note that L. pneumophila produces OM blebs or invaginations (72).]The blebs appeared to enlarge as more outer membrane dissociated in a linear fashion from the cell envelope, leading to a "flap," rather than a vesicle. These laminar fragments of outer membrane broke away and were recovered subsequently by high-speed centrifugation. The proteins they contained were then solubilized in a buffer at pH 8 wherein they remained stable in the refrigerator for at least a month. We feel confident that these preparations contained most, if not all, of the OMPs which constituted the thrust of this study.

The mechanism of citrate-Tris-mediated release of outer membrane from the cell of the envelope of L. pneumophila is unclear, but the reagent clearly weakens, at pH 2.75, the integrity of this membrane and its association with lipoproteins, which are covalently linked with peptidoglycan (mureine) (17) and/or with peptidoglycan-associated proteins (135, 179, 225, 182), thereby causing it to separate from the cell envelope. Similarly, the buffer very likely disturbs the structural relationship between porins and other constituents of the outer membrane. It seems likely that the interactions between OM constituents and murine are essentially ionic in character and can be disrupted by the intensification of positive charges within the outer membrane, as suggested by Schindler and Tenber (182). Since citrate is a good chelating agent, capable of binding such divalent cations as Mg^{2+} and Ca^{2+} , important in cell wall structure of Gram-negative bacteria (157), it will perturbate the macromolecular architecture of the cell wall by tying up such cations.

Analysis of the outer membrane eluates by SDS-PAGE revealed a great variety of proteins with varied molecular weights (ranging from 10 to 76 Kd), values of which are in some agreement with those reported by Hindahl and Iglewski (103). They used a French pressure cell to break up <u>L</u>. pneumophila; employing sucrose gradient centrifugation, they

were able to separate five distinct bands of cellular subunits, two of which originated from the OM. The latter were recovered and their proteins were characterized by a somewhat different SDS-PAGE method than we employed, namely the method of Laemmli (130).

Proteins forming transmembrane pores (porins) in outer membranes are generally abundant and within the molecular size range of 30,000 to 45,000 daltons (156). In our work, a 24 Kd major protein was found to be common in all serogroup of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u>; often it appeared to be the most abundant OMP. OMPs with molecular sizes of 30 Kd and 43 Kd have been identified in <u>Brucella abortus</u> (202) and a 29 Kd protein has been reported to be a major OMP in <u>Rickettsia</u> <u>prowazekii</u> (188). Since <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u>, like brucellae and rickettsiae, is an intracellular pathogen (154), it is possible that the OM class of proteins may play an important role in intracellular parasitism (155).

Ehret and his associates (64) have shown by means of PAGE that all the twenty-one strains of legionellae (seven serogroups of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> and six other legionella species) they studied contained a major OMP of 29 \pm 500 Kd. This protein was particularly predominant in formaldehydeinactivated preparations and could be detected only with a 7.5 percent gel or a 4 to 30 percent gradient polyacrylamide gel. The 29 Kd protein was not found in clinical

isolates of a number of non-Legionella species of gramnegative rods; thus, they assumed that the 29 Kd protein is a distinguishing feature of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u>. Ehret, <u>et</u> <u>al</u>. (64) found the 29 Kd protein only after heating the cells to 80°C in the presence of 2-mecaptoethanol; a lower temperature or the omission of the reducing agent prevented its appearance.

More recently, Hindahl and Iglewski (103) demonstrated two major OMPs L. pneumophila, viz., 29 Kd and 33 Kd. They found the 29 Kd protein to be recoverable from SDS-insoluble material (i.e., crude peptidoglycan) at temperatures greater than 60°C, a property characteristic of porins from E. coli $(135)^{\circ}$. They also discovered that extraction from crude peptidoglycan from L. pneumophila with high salt, which normally releases porins from the peptidoglycan of Salmonella typhimurium (198) and Pseudomonas aeruginosa (224), failed to release the 29 Kd protein. The 33 Kd protein increased in apparent molecular size to 45 Kd upon application of moderate heat of less than 60°C, regardless of the presence of a reducing agent. Only be treatment at 100°C was it fully recoverable as a 33 Kd protein. In contrast, in the absence of heating and of 2-mecaptoethanol, the 29 Kd protein band did not appear to enter the gel as a recognizable band, thereby indicating that both heat and reducing agent are required to release the 29 Kd protein in its monomeric form.

While our methods resulted in the appearance of a 29 Kd protein in three strains and a 24 Kd in all eleven strains tested, it is possible that the methods used for processing of OMP preparation for PAGE by Hindahl (103) and Ehret (64) might have affected the 24 Kd protein, particularly in view of the preliminary application of high temperature and a reducing agent to the intact cells by Ehret, et al. In our hands, the omission of 2 mecaptoethanol from the gel processing had no visible effect upon the specific bands resolved. It is likely that the 29 kd protein (and others) found by these other workers was derived from the 24 Kd protein by such denaturing agents as heat and formalin. Since Hindahl and Iglewski claimed that the 33 Kd protein could complex into a 45 Kd protein, by the same token it is conceivable that our 24 Kd protein could have been modified by unknown factors to result in the 29 Kd protein which they found. Once the OMPs were recovered, we found that treatment at 100 °C for five minutes in the presence of the sulfhydryl reagent neither affected the 24 Kd protein nor caused the 29 Kd form to appear upon PAGE analysis. The 29 Kd protein we encountered in three strains is probably a different protein than the one reported by the other workers.

In view of finding mixed OMPs from serogroup 7 to induce both active and cellular immunity, the 24 Kd protein,

which is prominent in <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u>, Chicago 8 (serogroup 7) and is common to all eleven <u>Legionella</u> strains we tested, is a good subunit vaccine candidate; also, it might be useful diagnostically for a precipitin or skin test for legionellosis. Furthermore, antisera to this and other OMPs of the legionellae might be useful therapeutically or prophylactically.

Legionellosis in humans usually manifests itself as pneumonia, often involving other organs such as the liver, kidney, intestines and the central nervous system (147). It also has been encountered in conjunctivitis (81). The infection is invariably airborne and has not been shown to be contagious (119). Multi-organ involvement is the consequence of dissemination of the bacteria or their products from the lung. In the experiments carried out under this study the bacteria were introduced by intraperitoneal injection and found to rapidly metastasize to the blood and lungs of the rabbit and the rat. Others (101, 142, 221) have also injected <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> into rats and other rodents, intraperitoneally as well as by intranasal installation, and reported infection of the lungs, liver, spleen and blood.

Quite accidentally, we obtained evidence that the <u>Legionella</u> bacterium can be transmitted orally. Following the death of the first rabbit that had been infected intraperitoneally with a suspension of L. pneumophila, a rabbit

in an adjacent cage became ill, showing symptoms identical to those of the experimental animal. It was killed by ether anesthesia and L. pneumophila was readily isolated on CYE agar from blood and lung tissue. Before thoroughly scrubbing and disinfecting the animal room, efforts were made to isolate the bacterium from swabs of the cages and environmental surfaces and from samples from the water bottles. Legionellae were subsequently recovered, but only from two samples of water from the deceased rabbit's water bottle. The other three rabbits in the lower bank of cages remained healthy and showed no clinical signs of legionellosis. We assume that the water bottle from the cage of the rabbit deliberately infected was exchanged with the one from the adjacent cage. The second rabbit thus consumed water laden with L. pneumophila and acquired the disease. Katz and Matus (120) raised the question of the likelihood of transmission of legionellae in experimental animals via the ingestion of contaminated water.

The pathogenic mechanisms responsible for the devastating effects of LDB in some species of experimental animals are not clear. However, the fact that the pathological picture, especially in lungs and liver of the rats and rabbits we studied, was dominated by vascular changes and necrosis, suggests that endotoxin and possibly other bacterial toxins were, at least in part, responsible for the histopathology seen.

Bacteria produce disease by adherence to cells, intraand intercellular invasion, elaboration of exotoxin, release of cell wall endotoxin, triggering certain immunologic mechanisms and by a combination of these factors (207). Local tissue invasion does not appear to be a predominant factor in the pathogenesis of LD. In lung tissue, LDB are located in alveolar spaces, both within macrophages and leukocytes and extracellularly (37). Tsai and his associates (199) have shown that pulmonary, gastrointestinal, renal and central nervous system abnormalities occur frequently in human legionellosis. However, legionellae have been isolated only from lung tissue, lung exudates and blood (29, 57), thus suggesting that the pathologic effects seen in the other tissues results from the elaboration of toxins by LDB.

A number of toxins have been isolated from <u>L</u>. <u>pneumo-</u> <u>phila</u>, including a hemolysin, cytotoxins, endotoxins (5, 82, 218) and a number of extracellular enzymes such as lipase, proteases, phospholipases, DNAses, and an enzyme with chemotrypsin-like activity (195, 196). Whether any or all of these substances are responsible for tissue damage is not proven; to date little <u>in vivo</u> work on these "toxins" has been attempted. Friedman (82) provided evidence that some <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> toxins inhibit certain biochemical functions of polymorphonuclear cells, thus possibly affecting

their capacity to deal with the bacteria. Horwitz (199) has demonstrated that <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> prevents some lysosomephagosome fusion in macrophages, hence preventing exposure of the bacteria to the lysosomal enzymes.

At present it is not known whether damage to lung tissue is caused solely by viable <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> organisms and their toxins or whether the bacteria, living or dead, release endotoxin and other cytotoxic factors. Ward (203), in reviewing the immunology and immunopatholy of LDB, found little evidence to support the operation of immunopathologic processes in legionellosis.

Rats that we immunized with legionella OMPs by footpad injection developed active immunity which was demonstrated to protect them against a lethal dose of the homologous strain. Moreover, we found that resistance could be acquired passively by the injection of serum from rats or rabbits immunized with OMPs. Specific Legionella antibodies, therefore, would seem to protect the host against infection by this bacterium; this has been found by others (28, 187). However, our results are the first to demonstrate an immune response to Legionella OMPs and to reveal that they lead to protective antibodies.

The role of cell-mediated immunity (CMI) in legionellosis is poorly understood. The bacteria have been shown to invade and grow in cultured monkey (125) and guinea pig
(126) macrophages and human peripheral monocytes (106). Protection against <u>Legionella</u> could result from the release of lymphokines from antigen-sensitized T-lymphocytes thereby activating macrophages with enhanced microbicidal activity.

Initial studies by Wong <u>et al</u>. (222) have shown that guinea pigs developed marked cutaneous hypersensitivity after sensitization with heat-inactivated cells, purified serotypic antigen or cross-reacting antigens of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u>; these skin reactions appeared within two to four weeks after immunization. Likewise, Wong and Feeley (223) found that this hypersensitivity could be induced by serogroup antigens mixed with cross-reacting antigens isolated from L. pneumophila.

Although humoral immunity by itself resulted in significant protection in our rat model, the participation of cellular immunity in defense against <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u>, as postulated by several authorities (83, 107), cannot be ignored. The legionellae join a long list of pathogens from bacteria (e.g., <u>Mycobacterium tuberculosis</u>, <u>Nocardia</u> spp., <u>Salmonella typhi</u>, <u>Brucella</u> spp., and <u>Treponema</u> <u>pallidum</u>) to many fungi and viruses, which produce intracellular infection, leading to cell-mediated immunity (delayed hypersensitivity) in the infected host (189), often detected by antigenic preparations injected intradermally. <u>Legionella pneumophila</u> invades and multiplies within phagocytic cells, especially in the alveolar macrophages of lungs (147); thus, it is well sheltered from interacting with the cognate antibodies known to arise in the host (which then may enlist a T-cell response).

If CMI responses do take part in the defense of the host against the legionellae, our result showing the DEA-OMP preparation to induce an excellent CMI response takes on added significance.

Patients with Legionnaires' disease develop both humoral and cell mediated immunity to L. pneumophila (107). Moreover, under some circumstances, antibody may be counterproductive by enhancing the uptake of L. pneumophila by mononuclear phagocytes in which the bacteria multiply (106). In contrast, CMI would appear to play a major role in host defenses against L. pneumophila. Thus, mononuclear phagocytes are activated and inhibit the intracellular multiplication of L. pneumophila (43). Daisy and Rinaldo (49, 171) have shown that legionellae can invade and grow intracellularly in tissue culture cells which are not phagocytes. Upon recovery from LD, patients are found to have peripheral blood mononuclear cells sensitized to L. pneumophila antigens (166). Remarkably, such cells are present for many months and in one case, persisted for nearly two years after full recovery (167).

Although the guinea pig has been used as the animal model in most work with L. pneumophila, less is known about

136

the rat; thus, it was used as the animal model in this study. The rat would seem to be a most appropriate model for further studies in the development of experimental <u>Legionella</u> vaccine since it has been shown to be more resistant to <u>Legionella</u> infection than certain other experimental animals and also responds immunologically to legionellae. The rat more closely mimics the relative resistance of humans to <u>L. pneumophila</u> than the guinea pig, which is considered to be highly susceptible (178).

Our results agree with, and extend, previous observations concerning immune responses, especially delayed hypersensitivity, to L. pneumophila. As L. pneumophila is an intracellular parasite, and thus would be expected to induce delayed hypersensitivity, the diagnosis of clinical or subclinical legionellosis could be facilitated by an identification test using such antigens as OMPs, as we demonstrated in the rat. Currently, the diagnosis is often delayed because of the difficulty in isolating the organism from patients, and because of the lag time (ten days) required to demonstrate a significant rise in antibody titer between acute and convalescent sera by immunofluorescense (211). As L. pneumophila is widespread in the natural environment (80), a skin test could be useful in epidemologic studies designed to assess the prevalence of legionellosis in the population, an important aspect of the disease which remains to be elucidated (180).

137

The study presented here should enhance interest in understanding the pathogenesis and development of protective immunity to <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u>. This interest concerns both basic and applied research, leading eventually to the development of a protective vaccine. The results of our study have revealed that the double emulsion adjuvant (DEA) is superior to the well-known Freund's complete adjuvant (FCA), which is not acceptable for use in human medicine, in inducing both active and cell-mediated immunity toward the OMPs of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u>. This is a highly significant finding since DEA might be acceptable to the Food and Drug Administration for use in a human vaccine--FCA is not acceptable.

Conclusion

It can be concluded from this investigation that: (a) many proteins exist in the outer membrane of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u>, regardless of the serogroup, a common one (24 Kd) being shared by all eleven strains tested; (b) the OMP of <u>L</u>. <u>pneumophila</u> serogroup 7 are immunogenic in the rabbit and rat, leading both to active and cell-mediated immunity; (c) parenteral administration of OMPs of the legionellae leads to the production of protective antibody; (d) immunoadjuvants, particularly a double emulsion type, enhance the immune responses to legionella OMPs; and (e) immunization with legionella OMPs protects the rat from an otherwise lethal dose of L. pneumophila.

Further research is needed on the identity of those OMPs, and other specific Legionella antigens to which the immune system responds. Also, it would be important to investigate the existence of common interspecific Legionella antigens which lead to protective antibodies and which, also, would establish a common marker for identification of Legionella species.

REFERENCES

- Ames, G. F. L., E. N. Spudich and H. Nikaido. 1974. Protein Composition of the Outer Membrane of <u>Salmonella typhimurium</u>: Effect of Lipópolysaccharide Mutation. J. Bacteriol. 117:406-416.
- Arnow, P. M., T. Chow, D. Weil, E. N. Shapiro, and C. Kretzschmar. 1982. Nococomial Legionnaires' Disease Caused by Aerosolized Tap Water from Respiratory Devices. J. Infect. Dis. 146:460-467.
- Ann-Preece, H. T. 1979. Manual for Histologic Technicians, p. 226-236. Little, Brown and Company, Boston.
- 4. Baine, W. B. 1984. Cytolytic Exotoxin and Phospholipase C Activity in Legionella Species, p. 93-94. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jakubowski (ed.), Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- 5. Baine, W. B., J. K. Rasheed, D. C. Mackel, C. A. Bopp, J. A. Wells and A. F. Kaufmann. 1979. Exotoxin Activity Associated with the Legionnaires' Disease Bacterium. J. Clin. Microbiol. 9:453-456.
- 6. Balows, A. and D. W. Fraser. 1979. Legionnaires' disease. International Symposium on Legionnaires' Disease. In Ann. Intern. Med. <u>90</u>:489-707.
- 7. Band, J. D., M. LaVenture, J. P. Davis, G. F. Mallison, P. Skaliy, P. Hayes, W. L. Schell, H. Weiss, D. J. Greenberg and D. W. Fraser. 1981. Epidemic Legionnaires' Disease. Airborne Transmission Down a Chimney. J. Am. Med. Assoc. <u>245</u>:2404-2407.
- Baskerville, A., M. Broster, R. B. Fitzgeorge, P. Hambleton and P. J. Dennis. 1981. Experimental transmission of Legionnaires' Disease by exposure to aerosols of <u>Legionella pneumophila</u>. Lancet ii:1389-1390.

- 9. Baskerville, A., R. B. Fitzgeorge, D. H. Gibson, J. W. Conlan, L. A. E. Ashworth and A. B. Dowsett. 1984. Pathological and Bacteriologic Finding after Aerosol Legionella pneumophila Infection of Susceptible, Convalescent and Antibiotic-Treated Animals, p. 131-132. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jakubowski (ed.), Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- 10. Beaty, H. N., A. A. Miller, C. V. Broome, S. Goings and C. A. Phillips. 1978. Legionnaires' Disease in Vermont, May to October 1977. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 240:127-131.
- 11. Beaty, H. N. 1984. Clinical Features of Legionellosis, p. 6-10. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jakubowski (ed.), Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- 12. Bibb, W. F., P. M. Arnow, D. L. Dellinger and S. R. Perryman. 1983. Isolation and Characterization of a Seventh Serogroup of Legionella pneumophila. J. Clin. Microbiol. 17:346-348.
- 13. Bissett, M. L., J. O. Lee and D. S. Lindquist. 1983. A new serogroup of <u>Legionella pneumophila</u>: Serogroup 8. J. Clin. Microbiol. 17:887-891.
- 14. Blackmon, J. A., M. D. Hicklin and F. W. Chandler. 1978. Legionnaires' Disease: Pathology and Historical Aspects of a New Disease. Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med. 102:337-343.
- 15. Bohach, G. A. and I. S. Synder. 1983. Characterization of surfaces involved in adherence of <u>Legionella</u> <u>pneumophila</u> to Fisherella species. Infec. Immun. 42:318-325.
- 16. Bozeman, F. M., J. W. Humphries and J. M. Campbell. 1968. A new group of rickettsia-like agents recovered from guinea pigs. Acta Virol. (Prague) <u>12</u>: 87-93.
- 17. Braun, V. 1975. Covalent lipoprotein from the outer membrane of <u>Escherichia</u> <u>coli</u>. Biochem. Biophys. Act. 415:335-337.

- 18. Braun, V. and K. Hartke. 1977. In J. L. Reissig (ed.), Microbial Interactions. Chapman and Hall, London.
- 19. Braun, V., P. E. Hancock, W. Hartke and A. Hartman. 1976. Functional Organization of the Outer Membrane of <u>Escherichia coli</u>: Phase and Colicin Receptors as Components of Iron Uptake Systems. J. Supramol. Structure 5:37-58.
- 20. Braun, V. and K. Rehn. 1969. Chemical Characterization, Spatial Distribution and Function of a Lipoprotein (murine-lipoprotein) of the <u>Escherichia</u> <u>coli</u> cell wall. Eur. J. Biochem. 10:426-430.
- 21. Brenner, D. J., A. G. Steigerwalt and J. E. McDade. 1979. Classification of the Legionnaires' Disease Bacterium: Legionella pneumophila, Genus Nova, of the Family Legionellaceae, Family Nova. Ann. Intern. Med. 90:656-658.
- 22. Brenner, D. J., A. G. Steigerwalt, G. W. Gorman, R. E. Weaver, J. C. Feeley, L. A. Cordes, H. W. Wilkins, C. Patton, B. M. Thomason and S. K. R. Lewellan. 1980. Legionella bozemanii sp. nov. and Legionella dumoffii sp. nov: Classification of Two Additional Species of Legionella Associated with Human Pneumonia. Curr. Microbiol. 4:111-116.
- 23. Brenner, D. J., A. G. Steigerwalt, G. W. Gorman, H. W. Wilkinson, W. F. Bibb, M. Hackel, R. L. Tyndall, J. Campbell, J. C. Feeley, W. L. Thacker, P. Skaliy, W. T. Martin, B. J. Brake, B. S. Fields, H. V. McEachern, and L. K. Corcoran. 1985. Ten New Species of Legionella. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 35:50-59.
- 24. Broome, C. V. 1984. Current Issues in Epidemiology of Legionellosis, p. 205-209. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jakubowski (ed.), Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium. American Society for Microbiology. Washington, D.C.
- 25. Broome, C. V., S. A. J. Goings, S. B. Thacker, R. L. Vogt, H. N. Beaty and D. W. Fraser. 1979. The Vermont Epidemic of Legionnaires' Disease. Ann. Intern. Med. <u>90</u>:573-577.

- 26. Buesching, W. J., R. A. Burst, and L. W. Ayers. 1983. Enhanced Primary Isolation of <u>Legionella pneumo-</u> <u>phila</u> from Clinical Specimens by Low pH Treatment. J. Clin. Microbiol. 17:1153-1155.
- 27. Burrell, R. 1979. Experimental Immunology 5th Edition. Burgess Publishing Co., Minneapolis.
- 28. Caparon, M. A. and W. Johnson. 1984. Cell-Mediated and Humoral Response in Guinea Pigs Immunized with Antigen Preparation Isolated from Legionella pneumophila, p. 168-171. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jakubowski (ed.), Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium. American Society for Microbiology. Washington, D.C.
- 29. Carrington, C. B. 1979. Pathology of Legionnaires' Disease. Ann. Intern. Med. 90:496-499.
- 30. Center for Disease Control. 1976. Follow Up on Respiratory Infection, Pennsylvania Morbid. Mortal. Weekly Rep. 25:244.
- 31. Center for Disease Control. 1976. Follow Up on Respiratory Disease, Philadelphia. Morbid. Mortal. Weekly Rep. <u>25</u>:270-276.
- 32. Center for Disease Control. 1977. Follow Up on Respiratory Illness, Philadelphia. Morbid. Mortal. Weekly Rep. 26:9-11.
- 33. Center for Disease Control. 1977. Follow Up on Legionnaires' Disease Pennsylvania. Morbid. Mortal. Weekly Rep. 26:152.
- 34. Center for Disease Control. 1977. Legionnaires' Disease-Ohio. Morbid. Mortal. Weekly Rep. 26:300.
- 35. Center for Disease Control. 1978. Legionnaires' Disease-New York, Tennessee. Morbid. Mortal. Weekly Rep. 27:352-353.
- 36. Center for Disease Control. 1978. Isolation of Organisms Resembling Legionnaires' Disease Bacterium-Georgia. Morbid. Mortal. Weekly Rep. 27:415-416.
- 37. Chandler, F. W., M. D. Hicklin and J. A. Blackmon. 1977. Demonstration of the Agent of Legionnaires' Disease in Tissue. N. Eng. J. Med. 297:1218-1220.

- 38. Chandler, F. W., J. E. McDade, M. D. Hicklin and J. A. Blackmon. 1979. Pathologic Finding in Guinea Pigs Inoculated Intraperitoneally with Legionnaires' Disease Bacterium. Ann. Intern. Med. 90:671-675.
- 39. Chanock, R. M., L. Hayflick and M. F. Barile. 1962. Growth on Artifical Medium of an Agent Associated with Atypical Pneumonia and Its Identification as a PPLO. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 48:41-49.
- 40. Cherry, W. B., A. W. Gorman, L. H. Orrison, C. W. Moss, A. G. Steigerwalt, H. W. Wilkinson, S. E. Johnson, R. M. McKinney and D. J. Brenner. 1982. Legionnella jordanis: A New Species of Legionella Isolated from Water and Sewage. J. Clin. Microbiol. 15:29-297.
- 41. Christensen, S. W., R. L. Tyndall, J. A. Solomon and C. B. Fliermans. 1982. Legionnaires' Disease Bacterium in Power Plant Cooling Systems. Electr. Power Res. Inst. J. 1:1-97.
- 42. Coates, A. R. M., B. A. Allen, J. Hewitt, J. Ivanyie and D. A. Mitchison. 1981. Antigen Diversity of <u>Mycobacterium tuberculosis and Mycobacterium bovis</u> Detected by Means of Monoclonal Antibodies. Lancet ii:167-169.
- 43. Collins, F. M. 1979. Cellular Antimicrobial Immunity. Crit. Rev. Microbiol. 7:21-91.
- 44. Collins, C. H. and P. M. Lyne. 1984. Microbiological Methods. Butterworths, London.
- 45. Committee on Interstate and Foreign Commerce, House of Representatives. For Purpose of Discussing the Causative Factors of the "Legionnaires' Disease." Hearing before the Subcommittee on Consumer Protection and Finance, Ninety-Fourth Congress, Nov. 23-24, 1976 (Serial No. 94-159). U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C.
- 46. Committee on Human Resources, United States Senate. Follow Up Examination on Legionnaires' Disease. Hearing before the Subcommittee on Health and Scientific Research, Ninety-Fifth Congress, Nov. 9, 1977. U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C.

- 47. Cordes, L. G., D. W. Fraser, P. Skaley, C. A. Perlino, W. R. Elsea, G. F. Mallison and P. S. Hayes. 1980. Legionnaires' Disease Outbreak at an Atlanta, Georgia Country Club: Evidence for Spread from an Evaporative Condenser. Am. J. Epidemiol. <u>111</u>:425-431.
- 48. Costerton, J. W., J. M. Ingram and K. J. Cheng. 1974. Structure and Function of the Cell Envelope of Gram-Negative Bacteria. Bacteriol. Rev. 38:87-110.
- 49. Daisy, J. A., C. E. Benson, J. McKitrick and H. M. Friedman. 1981. Intracellular Replication of <u>Legionella pneumophila</u>. J. Infect. Dis. <u>143</u>:460-464.
- 50. Davis, B. D., R. DuDelcco, H. N. Eisen, H. S. Ginsberg and W. B. Wood. 1973. Microbiology. 2nd Edition. Harper and Row, New York.
- 51. Davis, G. S., W. C. Winn, Jr. and H. N. Beaty. 1981. Legionnaires' Disease: Infection Caused by <u>Legionella pneumophila</u> and Legionella-like Organisms. Clin. Chest. Med. 2:145-166.
- 52. deFreitas, J. L., J. Borst and P. L. Meenhorst. 1979. Easy Visualization of Legionella pneumophila by "Half-a-Gram" Stain Procedure. Lancet i:270-271.
- 53. DePetris, S. 1967. Ultrastructure of the Cell Wall of <u>Escherichia coli</u> and Chemical Nature of Its Constituent Layers. J. Ultrastruct. Res. 19:45-83.
- 54. DiRenzo, J. M., K. Jakamura and M. Inouye. 1978. The Outer Membrane Proteins of Gram-Negative Bacteria. Biosynthesis, Assembly and Function. Ann. Rev. Biochem. 47:481-532.
- 55. Dondero, T. J. Jr., R. C. Rendtorff, G. F. Mallison, R. M. Weeks, J. S. Levy, E. W. Wong and W. Schaffner. 1980. Outbreak of Legionnaires' Disease Associated with Contaminated Air Conditioning Cooling Tower. N. Engl. J. Med. 302:365-370.
- 56. Drake, D. C. 1976. Legionnaires' Disease. Why They Failed. Philadelphia Inquirer, Nov. 14, 1976.

- 57. Edelstein, P. H., R. D. Meyer and S. M. Finegold. 1979. Isolation of Legionella pneumophila from Blood. Lancet <u>1</u>:750-751.
- 58. Edelstein, P. H., R. D. Meyer and S. M. Finegold. 1980. Laboratory Diagnosis of Legionnaires' Disease. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 121:317-327.
- 59. Edelstein, P. H. 1981. Improved Semiselective Medium for Isolation of <u>Legionella pneumophila</u> from Contaminated Clinical Environmental Specimens. J. Clin. Microbiol. 14:298-303.
- 60. Edelstein, P. H., D. J. Brenner, C. W. Moss, A. G. Steigerwalt, E. M. Francis and W. L. George. 1982. <u>Legionella wadsworthii</u> species nova: A Cause of Human Pneumonia. Ann. Intern. Med. 97:809-813.
- 61. Edelstein, P. H. 1983. Culture Diagnosis of Legionella Infections. Zentrabl. Bakt. Prasitenkd. Intektionskr. Hyg. Abt. 1 Orig. Reihe, A. 255:96-101.
- 62. Edelstein, P. H. 1984. Laboratory Diagnosis of Legionnaires' Disease, p. 3-5. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jakubowski (ed.), Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- 63. Edelstein, P. H. and R. D. Mayer. 1984. Legionnaires' Disease: A Review. Chest 85:114-120.
- 64. Ehrets, W., G. Anding and G. Ruckdeschel. 1984. Characterization of Membrane Protein from Various Strains and Serogroups of Legionella pneumophila and Other Legionella Species, p. 265-268. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley, and W. Jakubowski (ed.). Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- 65. Eichoff, T. C. 1979. Epidemiology of Legionnaires' Disease. Ann. Intern. Med. 90:499-502.
- 66. Eklund, C. and C. E. Lankford. 1967. Laboratory Manual for General Microbiology. Prentice Hall, Inc. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey.

- 67. Fallon, R. J. and W. H. Abraham. 1979. Scottish Experience with the Serologic Diagnosis of Legionnaires' Disease. Ann. Intern. Med. <u>90</u>:684-686.
- 68. Fallon, R. J. and W. H. Abraham. 1982. Polyvalent Heat-Killed Antigen for the Diagnosis of Infection with Legionella pneumophila. J. Clin. Pathol. <u>35</u>: 434-438.
- 69. Feeley, J. C., G. W. Gorman, R. E. Weaver, D. C. Mackel and H. Smith. 1978. Primary Isolation Media for Legionnaires' Disease Bacterium. J. Clin. Microbiol. 8:320-325.
- 70. Feeley, J. C., R. J. Gibson and G. W. Gorman. 1979. Charcoal-Yeast Extract Agar: Primary Isolation Medium for Legionella pneumophila. J. Clin. Microbiol. 10:437-441.
- 71. Finerty, W. R., R. A. Makula and J. C. Feeley, 1979. Cellular Lipids of the Legionnaires' Disease Bacterium. Ann. Intern. Med. 90:631-633.
- 72. Flesher, A. R., S. Ito, B. J. Mansheim and D. L. Kasper. 1979. The Cell Envelope of the Legionnaires' Disease Bacterium. Morphologic and Biochemical Characteristics. Ann. Intern. Med. 90:628-630.
- 73. Flesher, A. R., H. J. Jennings, C. Lugowski and D. L. Kasper. 1982. Isolation of a Serogroup 1-Specific Antigen from Legionella pneumophila. J. Infect. Dis. 145:224-233.
- 74. Fliermans, C. B., G. E. Bettinger and A. W. Fynsk. 1981. Treatment of Cooling Systems Containing High Levels of Legionella pneumophila. Water Res. <u>16</u>: 903-909.
- 75. Fliermans, C. B., W. B. Cherry, L. H. Orrison, S. J. Smith, D. C. Tison and D. H. Pope. 1981. Ecological Distribution of Legionella pneumophila. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 41:9-16.
- 76. Fliermans, C. B. 1984. Philosophical Ecology: Legionella in Historical Perspective, p. 285-289. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jakubowski (ed.), Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposum, American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.

- 77. Fliermans, C. B. and R. S. Harvey. 1984. Effectiveness of 1-Bromo-3-Chloro-5,5-Dimethylhydantoin Against Legionella pneumophila in Cooling Towers. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 47:1307-1310.
- 78. Fraser, D. W., T. R. Tsai, W. Orenstein, W. E. Parkin, H. J. Beechan and R. A. Sharrar. 1977. Legionnaires' Disease. Description of an Epidemic of Pneumonia. N. Engl. J. Med. 297:1189-1197.
- 79. Fraser, D. W., I. K. Wachsmith, C. Bopp, J. C. Feeley and T. F. Tsai. 1978. Antibiotic Treatment of Guinea Pig Infected with Agents of Legionnaires' Disease. Lancet i:175-177.
- 80. Fraser, D. W., D. K. Deubner, D. L. Hill and D. K. Gilliam. 1979. Nonpneumonic, Short Incubation Period Legionellosis (Pontiac fever) in Men Who Cleaned a Stream Turbine Condenser. Science 205: 690-691.
- 81. Friedland, L., D. R. Snydman, A. S. Weingarden, T. R. Hedges, R. Brown and M. Busky. 1984. Occular and Pericardial Involvement in Legionnaires' Disease. Am. J. Med. 77:1105-1107.
- 82. Friedman, R. L., B. H. Iglewski and R. D. Miller. 1980. Identification of a cytotoxin produced by <u>Legionella</u> pneumophila. Infect. Immun. 29:271-274.
- 83. Friedman, H., R. Widen, I. Lee and T. Klein. 1983. Cellular Immunity to <u>Legionella pneumophila</u> in guinea pigs Assessed by Direct and Indirect Migration Inhibition Reaction <u>in vitro</u>. Infect. Immun. 41:1132-1137.
- 84. Friedman, H., T. Klein and R. Widen. 1984. Immunity to Legionella pneumophila, p. 145-152. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jakubowski (ed.), Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- 85. Friedman, H., T. Klein and R. Widen. 1984. Immuno-Stimulation by <u>Legionella pneumophila</u> Antigens, p. 187-190. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jakubowski (ed.), Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.

- 86. Fumarola, D., C. Marcuccio and M. Giuseppe. 1984. In vitro Influence of Lipopolysaccharide From Two Species of Legionella on Human Blood Leukocyte Procoagulant Activity, p. 192-193. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jakubowski (ed.), Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- 87. Gibson, D. H., R. B. Fitzgeorge and A. Baskerville. 1983. Antibiotic Therapy of Experimental Airborne Legionnaires' disease. J. Infect. Dis. 7:210-217.
- 88. Gimenez, D. F. 1964. Staining Rickettsiae in Yolk-Sac Cultures. Stain Technol. 39:135-140.
- 89. Glick, T. H., M. B. Gregg, B. Berman, G. Mallison, W. W. Rhodes, Jr. and I. Kassanoff. 1978. Pontiac Fever: An Epidemic of Unknown Etiology in a Health Department. 1. Clinical and Epidemiologic Aspects. Am. J. Epidemiol. <u>107</u>:149-160.
- 90. Goldfine, H. 1972. Comparative Aspects of Bacterial Lipids in Advances in Microbiological Physiology, Vol. 7, edited by A. H. Rose, D. W. Tempest, Academic Press, New York, p. 1-58.
- 91. Goven, A. J. and E. V. DeBuysscher. 1978. A New Method of Artificial Production of Immunity in Mice by Footpad Injection of a Crude Laval Extract of Trichinella spiralis. J. Parasitol. 64:1142-1143.
- 92. Grace, R. D., N. E. Dewar, W. G. Barnes and G. R. Hodges. 1981. Susceptibility of <u>Legionella pneu-</u> <u>mophila</u> to Three Cooling Tower Microbiocides. <u>Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 41:233-236.</u>
- 93. Grassi, G. G. and E. Pozzi. 1972. Effect of Rifampicin on Delayed Hypersensitivity Reaction. J. Infect. Dis. 126:542-547.
- 94. Guerrant, G. O., M. S. Lambert and C. W. Moss. 1979. Identification of Diaminopimelic Acid in the Legionnaires' disease Bacterium. J. Clin. Microbiol. 10:815-818.
- 95. Guillet, J. G., J. Hoebeke, C. Tram, F. Petitjean and A. D. Strosberg. 1984. Diagnostic Potential of an Antilegionella Monoclonal Antibody, p. 39-40. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jakubowski (ed.), Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.

149

- 96. Harrison, T. C. and A. G. Taylor. 1982. Diagnosis of <u>Legionella pneumophila</u> Infections by Means of Formalized Yolk Sac Antigens. J. Clin. Pathol. <u>35</u>: 211-214.
- 97. Harrison, T. C. and A. G. Taylor. 1982. A Rapid Micro-Agglutination for the Diagnosis of <u>Legionella</u> <u>pneumophila</u> (Serogroup 1) Infection. J. Clin. Pathol. 35:1028-1031.
- 98. Hayflick, L. and R. M. Chanock. 1965. Mycoplasma Species of Man. Bacteriol. Rev. 29:186-221.
- 99. Hebert, G. A., A. G. Steigerwalt and D. J. Brenner. 1980. Legionella micdadei Species Nova: Classification of a Third Species of Legionella Associated with Human Pneumonia. Curr. Microbiol. 3:255-257.
- 100. Hedlund, K. W. 1981. Legionella Toxin. Pharmocol. Ther. 15:123-130.
- 101. Hedlund, K. W., V. G. McClann, D. S. Copeland, S. F. Little and R. C. Allen. 1979. Immunological Protection Against the Legionnaires' Disease Bacterium in the AICR-17 Mouse. Ann. Intern. Med. <u>90</u>: 676-679.
- 102. Herwaldt, L. A., G. W. Gorman, A. W. Brake, H. Wilkinson, A. L. Reingold, P. A. Borer, T. McGrath, D. T. Brenner, C. W. Moss and C. V. Broome. Pontiac Fever in an Automobile Engine Assembly Plant, p. 246-247. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jabubowski (ed.), Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- 103. Hindahl, M. S. and B. H. Iglewski. 1984. Isolation and Characterization of Legionella pneumophila Outer Membrane. J. Bacteriol. 159:107-113.
- 104. Hindennach, I. and U. Henning. 1975. The Major Proteins of <u>Eschrichia coli</u> Outer Cell Envelope Membrane Preparative Isolation of All Major Membrane Protein. Eur. J. Biochem. <u>59</u>:207-213.
- 105. Horwitz, M. A. and S. C. Silverstein. 1981. Interaction of the Legionnaires' Disease Bacterium (Legionella pneumophila) with Human Phagocytes: 2. Antibody Promoted Binding of Legionella pneumophila to Monocytes but not Inhibit Intracellular Multiplication. J. Exp. Med. 153:398-406.

- 106. Horwitz, M. A. and S. C. Silverstein. 1980. Legionnaires' Disease Bacterium (Legionella pneumophila) Multiplies Intracellularly in Human Monocytes. J. Clin. Invest. 66:441-450.
- 107. Horwitz, M. A. 1982. Cell-Mediated Immunity in Legionnaires' Disease. J. Clin. Invest. <u>71</u>:1686-1697.
- 108. Horwitz, M. A. and S. C. Silverstein. 1983. The Intracellular Multiplication of Legionnaires' Disease Bacteria (Legionella pneumophila) in Human Monocytes in Reversibly Inhibited by Erythromycin and Rifampicin. J. Clin. Invest. 71:15-26.
- 109. Horwitz, M. A. 1983. Formation of a Novel Phagosome by the Legionnaires' Disease Bacterium (Legionella pneumophila) in Human Monocytes. J. Exp. Med. <u>158</u>: 1319-1331.
- 110. Huebner, R., P. Reeser, and D. Smith. 1984. Comparison of the Virulence of the Philadelphia and Pontiac Isolate of Legionella pneumophila, p. 123-124. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jakubowski (ed.), Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- 111. Ichihara, S. and S. Mizushima. 1977. Involvement of Outer Membrane Proteins in Entrochelin-Mediated Iron Uptake in Escherichia <u>coli</u>. J. Biol. Chem. (Tokyo) 81:749-756.
- 112. Inouye, M. and M. Yee. 1972. Specific Removal of Proteins from the Envelope of <u>Escherichia coli</u> by Protease Treatment. J. Bacteriol. <u>112</u>:585-592.
- 113. Inouye, M. and M. Yee. 1973. Homogeneity of Envelope Proteins of <u>Eschrichia coli</u> Separated by Gel Electrophoresis in Sodium Dodecylsulfate. J. Bacteriol. 113:304-312.
- 114. Inouye, M., J. Shaw and C. Shen. 1972. The Assembly of a Structural Lipoprotein in the Envelope of Escherichia coli. J. Biol. Chem. 247:8154-8159.

- 115. Irvin, R. P., A. I. Chatterjee, K. E. Sanderson and J. W. Costerton. 1975. Comparison of the Cell Envelope Structure of a Lipopolysaccharide Defective (Heptose-Deficient) Strain and a Smooth Strain of <u>Salmonella</u> <u>typhimurium</u>. J. Bacteriol. 124:930-941.
- 116. Irvin, R. T., T. J. MacAlister, R. Chan and J. W. Costerton. 1981. Citrate-Tris (Hydroxymethyl) Aminomethane-Mediated Release of Outer Membrane Sections from the Cell Envelope of a Deep-Rough (Heptose-Deficient lipopolysaccharide) Strain of Escherichia coli 08. J. Bacteriol. 145:1386-1396.
- 117. Joly, J. R., Y. Y. Chen and D. Ramsey. 1984. Subtyping of <u>Legionella pneumophila</u> Serogroup 1 by Using Monoclonal Antibodies, p. 264-265. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jakubowski (ed.), Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- 118. Jones, A. L. and G. A. Hebert (ed.). 1979. McFarland Nephelometer Density Standards. Appendix VII, p. 160. In Legionnaires'; the Disease, the Bacterium and Methodology. Publ. No. 79-8373, Center for Disease Control, Atlanta, Georgia.
- 119. Katz, S. M., W. A. Habib, J. M. Hammel, and P. Nash. 1982. Lack of Airborne Spread of Infection by Legionella pneumophila Among Guinea Pigs. Infect. Immun. 38:620-622.
- 120. Katz, S. M. and J. P. Matus. 1984. Febrile Illness Produced in Guinea Pigs by Oral Inoculation of <u>Legionella pneumophila</u>, p. 124-127. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jakubowski (ed.), Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- 121. Keathley, J. D. and W. C. Winn, Jr. 1984. Comparison of Media for Recovery of <u>Legionella pneumophila</u> Clinical Isolate, p. 19-20. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jakubowski (ed.), Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.

- 122. Keel, J. A., W. R. Finnerty and J. C. Feeley. 1979. Fine Structure of the Legionnaires' Disease Bacterium. Ann. Intern. Med. 90:652-655.
- 123. Kirby, B. D., K. M. Snyder, R. D. Meyer, and S. M. Finegold. 1980. Legionnaires' Disease: Report of 65 Nosocomically Acquired Cases and Review of the Literature. Medicine 59:188-205.
- 124. Kirby, B. D., K. M. Snyder, R. D. Meyer and S. M. Finegold. 1979. Legionnaires' Disease: Clinical Features of 24 Cases. Ann. Intern. Med. <u>89</u>:297-309.
- 125. Kishimoto, R. A., M. D. Kestello, J. D. White, F. A. Shirey, V. C. McGann, E. W. Larson, and K. W. Hedlund. 1979. <u>In vitro</u> Interaction Between Normal Cynomolgus Monkey Alveolar Macrophages and Legionnaires' Disease Bacterium. Infect. Immun. <u>25</u>: 761-763.
- 126. Kishimoto, R. A., J. D. White, F. A. Shirey, V. G. McGann, R. F. Berendt, E. W. Larson and K. W. Hedlund. 1981. <u>In vitro</u> Response of Guinea Pigs Peritoneal Macrophages to <u>Legionella pneumophila</u>. Infect. Immun. 31:1209-1213.
- 127. Kohler, G. and C. Milstein. 1975. Continuous Culture of Fused Cells Secreting Antibody of Predefined Specificity. Nature (London) 256:495-497.
- 128. Koprowski, K., W. Gerhard, T. Wiktor, J. Martins, M. Shander and C. M. Cruce. 1978. Anti-viral and Anti-tumor Antibodies Produced by Somatic Cell Hybrids. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. <u>81</u>:9-19.
- 129. Kuchta, J. M., S. J. States, A. M. McNamara, R. M. Wadowsky and R. B. Yee. 1983. Susceptibility of <u>Legionella pneumophila</u> to Chlorine in Tap Water. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 46:1134-1139.
- 130. Laemmli, U. K. 1970. Cleavage of Structural Proteins During the Assembly of the Head of Bacteriophage T_4 . Nature (London) 227:680-685.
- 131. Lattimer, A. L. and R. A. Ormsbee. 1981. Legionnaires' Disease, p. 1-224. Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, Basel.

- 132. Lowry, B. S., G. D. Cottrill and R. S. Thompson. 1984. Bull's-eye Lesion of Legionella pneumophila, p. 127-128. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jakubowski (ed.), Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- 133. Lowry, O. H., N. J. Rosenbrough, A. L. Farr, and R. J. Randal. 1951. Protein Measurement with the Folin Phenol Reagent. J. Biol. Chem. <u>193</u>:265-275.
- 134. Lutenberg, B., R. Peters, H. Bernheimer and W. Berendsen. 1976. Influence of Cultural Conditions and Mutations on the Composition of the Outer Membrane Protein of Escherichia coli. Mol. Gen. Genet. 147:251-262.
- 135. Lutenberg, B., N. Bronstein, N. VanSalm and R. Peters. 1977. Peptidoglycan-associated Outer Membrane Proteins in Gram-negative Bacteria. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 465:571-578.
- 136. Lutenberg, B. and L. VanAlphen. 1983. Molecular Architecture and Functioning of the Outer Membrane of <u>Escherichia coli</u> and Other Gram-negative Bacteria. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. <u>737</u>:51-115.
- 137. Makula, R. A. and W. R. Finnerty. 1975. Isolation and Characterization of an Ornithine-containing Lipid from Desulfovibrio gigas. J. Bacteriol. <u>123</u>:523-529.
- 138. Mayberry, W. R. 1981. Dihydroxy and monohydroxy fatty acids in Legionella pneumophila. J. Bacteriol. 147:373-381.
- 139. Mayock, P. P. and P. I. Bader. 1979. Legionnaires' Disease. A Review of Clinical Aspects of 18 Sporadic Cases. Am. J. Med. Sci. 277:215-222.
- 140. McDade, J. E., C. C. Sheppard, D. W. Fraser, T. R. Tsai, M. A. Redus, W. R. Dowdle. 1977. Legionnaires' Disease: Isolation of a Bacterium and Demonstration of Its Role in Other Respiratory Disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 297:1197-1203.
- 141. McDade, J. E., D. J. Brenner and F. M. Bozeman. 1979. Legionnaires' Disease Bacterium Isolated in 1947. Ann. Intern. Med. 90:659-661.

- 142. McDade, J. E. and C. C. Shepard. 1979. Virulence to Avirulent Conversion of Legionnaires' Disease Bacterium (Legionella pneumophila). Its Effect on Isolation Techniques. J. Infect. Dis. <u>139</u>:707-717.
- 143. McKinney, R. M., L. Thacker, P. P. Harris, K. R. Lewallen, G. A. Hebert, P. H. Edelstein and B. M. Thomason. 1979. Four Serogroups of Legionnaires' Disease Bacteria Defined by Direct Immunofluorescence. Ann. Intern. Med. <u>90</u>:621-624.
- 144. McKinney, R. M., R. K. Preshen, P. H. Edelstein, M. L. Bissett, P. P. Harris, S. P. Bondell, A. G. Steigerwalt, R. E. Weaver, M. E. Ein, D. S. Lindquist, R. S. Kops and D. J. Brenner. 1981. <u>Legionella longbeachae</u> sp. nov. Another Etiologic Agent of Human Pneumonia. Ann. Intern. Med. <u>94</u>: 739-743.
- 145. McKinney, R. M. 1980. Serological Classification of <u>Legionella</u> pneumophila and Detection of Other Legionella by Direct Fluorescent Antibody Staining. Clin. Immunol. News <u>1</u>:1-3.
- 146. Meyer, R. D., P. H. Edelstein, B. D. Kirby, M. H. Louie, M. E. Mulligan and A. A. Morganstein. 1980. Legionnaires' Disease. Unusual Clinical and Laboratory Features. Ann. Intern. Med. 93:240-243.
- 147. Meyer, R. D. and S. M. Finegold. 1980. Legionnaires' Disease. Annu. Rev. Med. 31:219-232.
- 148. Meyer, R. D. 1983. Legionella Infection: A Review of Five Years of Research. Rev. Infect. Dis. <u>5</u>:258-278.
- 149. Mishell, B. and S. Shiigi. 1980. Selected Methods in Cellular Immunology, p. 14-16. W. H. Freeman and Company, San Francisco.
- 150. Morris, A. K., A. G. Steigerwalt, J. C. Feeley, E. S. Wong, W. T. Martin, C. M. Patton and D. J. Brenner. 1980. <u>Legionella gormanii</u> sp. nov. J. Clin. Microbiol. 12:718-721.
- 151. Moss, C. W., R. E. Weaver, S. B. Dees and W. B. Cherry. 1977. Cellular Fatty Acid Composition of Isolates from Legionnaires' Disease. J. Clin. Microbiol. <u>6</u>: 140-143.

- 152. Moyer, N. P., A. F. Lange, N. H. Hall and W. J. Hausler, Jr. 1984. Application of Capillary Gas-Liquid Chromatography for Subtyping Legionella pneumophila. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jakubowski (ed.), Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium. American Society for Microbiology. Washington, D.C.
- 153. Nash, T. W., D. M. Libbi and M. A. Horwitz. 1982. Legionella Disease Bacterium in Human Alveolar Macrophages and Activated Alveolar Macrophages Inhibit Multiplication. In program of the 22nd Interscience Conference on Antimicrobiological Agents and Chemotherapy. American Society for Microbiology, Miami Beach, Florida, October 4-6, 1982.
- 154. Neville, D. M. and H. Glassman. 1974. Molecular Weight Determination of Protein and Glycoprotein Subunit by Gel Electrophoresis in Dodecyl Sulfate. Methods Enzymol. 32:92-102.
- 155. Newhall, W. J. and R. B. Jones. 1983. Disulfide Linked Oligomers of the Major Outer Membrane Protein of Chlamydiae. J. Bacteriol. 154:993-1001.
- 156. Nikaido, H. 1976. Outer Membrane of <u>Salmonella</u> <u>typhi-</u> <u>murium</u>: Transmembrane Diffusion of Some Hydrophobic <u>Substances</u>. Biochem. Biophys. Acta 433:118-132.
- 157. Nikaido, H. and M. Vaara. 1985. Molecular Basis of Bacterial Outer Membrane Permeability. Microbiol. Rev. 49:1-32.
- 158. Orvison, L. H., W. B. Cherry, R. L. Tyndall, C. B. Fliermans, S. B. Gough, M. A. Lambert, W. F. Bibb, L. K. McDougal and D. J. Brenner. 1983. <u>Legionnella oakridgenesis</u>: Unusual New Species Isolated from Cooling Tower Water. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 45:536-545.
- 159. Ortiz-Roque and T. C. Hazen. 1982. Isolation of Legionella pneumophila from Tropical Waters. Abstr. Annu. Meet. Am. Soc. Microbiol. N. 15. p.180.
- 160. Oshima, M. and A. Miyagawa. 1974. Comparative Studies on Fatty Acid Composition of Moderately and Extremely Thermophilic Bacteria. Lipids <u>9</u>:476-480.

- 161. Para, M. F., J. F. Plouffe and W. E. Maher. 1984. Production of Monoclonal Antibodies to Legionella pneumophila and Relationship of Monoclonal Binding to Plasmid Content, p. 262-264. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jakubowski (ed). Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- 162. Pasculle, A. W., J. C. Feeley, R. J. Gibson, L. G. Cordes, R. L. Myerowitz, C. M. Patton, G. W. Gorman, C. L. Carmark, J. W. Ezzell and J. N. Dowling. 1980. Pittsburg Pneumonic Agent: Direct Isolation from Human Lung Tissue. J. Infect. Dis. 141:727-732.
- 163. Pennington, J. E. 1981. Penetration of Antibiotics in Respiratory Secretions. Rev. Infect. Dis. <u>3</u>: 67-73.
- 164. Pierce, A. K. and J. P. Sanford. 1974. Aerobic Gramnegative Bacillary Pneumonia. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 110:647-658.
- 165. Pine, L., J. R. George, M. W. Reeves and W. K. Harrel. 1979. Development of a Chemically Defined Liquid Medium for Growth of <u>Legionella pneumophila</u>. J. Clin. Microbiol. 9:615-626.
- 166. Plouffe, J. F. and I. M. Baird. 1982. Cord Blood Lymphocyte Transformation to Legionella pneumophila. J. Clin. Lab. Immunol. 9:119-120.
- 167. Plouffe, J. F. and I. M. Baird. Longitudinal Immunologic Studies in Patients with Legionnaires' Disease, p. 190-191. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jakubowski (ed.), Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- 168. Ranneberger, H. J. 1977. Comparison of the Pyrogen Test in Rabbits and with Limulus Lysate. Biol. Stand. 34:27-32.
- 169. Reynolds, E. S. 1963. The Use of Lead Citrate at High pH as Electron-Opaque Stain in Electron Microscopy. J. Cell. Biol. <u>17</u>:208-212.
- 170. Rifkind, D. and R. B. Hill, Jr. 1967. Neutralization of the Shwartzman Reactions by Polymyxin B. J. Immunol. 99:564-569.

- 171. Rinaldo, C. R., Jr., A. W. Pasculle, R. L. Myerowitz, F. M. Gress and J. N. Dowling. 1981. Growth of the Pittsburgh Pneumonia Agent in Animal Cell Cultures. Infect. Immun. 33:939-943.
- 172. Ristroph, J. D., K. W. Hedlund and R. G. Allen. 1981. Liquid Medium for Growth of Legionella pneumophila. J. Clin. Microbiol. 17:19-21.
- 173. Ristuccia, P. A., C. A. Cunha and A. M. Ristuccia. 1984. <u>In vitro</u> Activity of Antimicrobial Agents Against <u>Legionella pneumonia</u> and Type Strain of Four Other Legionella Species, p. 99-100. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jakubowski (ed.), Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium, American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- 174. Robbins, S. L. 1974. Pathologic Basic of Disease. W. B. Saunders Company, Philadelphia.
- 175. Rodgers, F. A., P. W. Greaves, A. D. Macrae and M. J. Lewis. 1980. Electron Microscopic Evidence of Flagella and Pilli on Legionella pneumophila. J. Clin. Pathol. 33:1184-1188.
- 176. Rodgers, F. A., P. W. Greaves and A. V. Macrae. 1979. Flagella and Fimbriae on Legionella Organisms. Lancet ii:753-754.
- 177. Rodgers, F. G. and T. S. Elliott. 1984. Action of Ampicillin and Erythromycin on the Growth and Morphology of Legionella pneumophila, p. 103-105. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jakubowski (ed.), Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- 178. Rolstad, B. and B. P. Berdal. 1981. Immune Defenses Against Legionella pneumophila in Rats. Infect. Immun. 32:805-812.
- 179. Rosenbusch, J. P. 1974. Characterization of the Major Envelope Protein from Escherichia <u>coli</u>. Regular Arrangement on the Peptidoglycan and Unusual Dodecyl Sulfate Binding. J. Biol. Chem. <u>249</u>:8018-8029.
- 180. Sanford, J. P. 1979. Legionnaires' Disease: One Person's Perspective. Ann. Intern. Med. <u>90</u>:699-703.

- 181. Sathapatayauongs, B., R. B. Kohler, L. J. Wheat, A. White, W. C. Winn, Jr. and J. C. Gorod. 1982. Rapid Diagnosis of Legionnaires' Disease by Urinary Antigen Detection: Comparison of ELISA and Radioimmunoassay. Am. J. Med. 72:576-582.
- 182. Schindler, P. R. G. and M. Teuber. 1978. Ultrastructural Study of <u>Salmonella</u> typhimurium Treated with Membrane Active Agents: Specific Reaction of Dansylchloride with Cell Envelope Components. J. Bacteriol. 135:198-206.
- 183. Schnaitman, C. A. 1970. Protein Composition of the Cell Wall and Cytoplasmic Membrane of <u>Escherichia coli</u>. J. Bacteriol. 104:882-884.
- 184. Schnaitman, C. A. 1974. Outer Membrane Protein of <u>Escherichia coli</u>. IV. Differences in Outer Membrane Protein Due to Stain Cultural Differences. J. Bacteriol. 188:454-564.
- 185. Shaw, N. 1974. Lipid Composition as a Guide to the Classifications of Bacteria. Adv. Appl. Microbiol. 17:63-108.
- 186. Singer, S. J. and G. L. Nicolson. 1972. The Fluid Mosaic Model of the Structure of Cell Membrne. Science <u>175</u>: 63-108.
- 187. Smalley, D. C. and D. D. Ourth. 1980. Comparison of Microagglutination Test with Bactericidal Response to Legionella pneumophila (Legionnaires' Disease Bacterium). J. Clin. Microbiol. <u>11</u>:200-201.
- 188. Smith, D. K. and H. H. Winkler. 1979. Separation of Inner Outer Membrane of <u>Rickettsia</u> prowazeki and Characterization of Their Polypeptide Compositions. J. Bacteriol. 137:963-971.
- 189. Tanphaichitra, D., A. Limsuwarn, R. Lasserre. V. Tanphaichitra, Y. Panupornprapongs and P. Tanphaichitra. 1978. Cellular Immunity in Common Intracellular Infections in the Tropics, p. 151-152. In W. Siegenthaler and R. Luthy (ed.) Curr. Chemotherapy, vol. 1. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- 190. Tatlock, H. 1944. A Rickettsia-like Organism Recovered from Guinea Pig. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. <u>57</u>:95-99.

- 191. Taylor, A. G. and T. G. Harrison. 1983. Serological Tests for Legionella pneumophila (Serogroup 1) Infections. Zentralbl. Bakteriol. Parasitenkd Infekionsky. Abt. 1 Orig A. 255:20-26.
- 192. Thacker, S. B., J. V. Bennett, T. F. Tsai, D. W. Fraser, J. E. McDade, C. C. Shepard, K. W. Williams, Jr., W. H. Stuart, H. B. Dull and T. C. Eickhoff. 1978. An Outbreak in 1965 of Severe Respiratory Illness Caused by the Legionnaires' Disease Bacterium. J. Infect. Dis. 138:512-519.
- 193. Thomason, B. M., F. W. Chandler and D. G. Hollis. 1979. Flagella on Legionnaires' Disease Bacterium: An Interim Report. Ann. Intern. Med. 91:224-226.
- 194. Thornsberry, C., C. N. Baker and L. A. Kirven. 1978. <u>In vitro</u> Activity of Antimicrobial Agents on Legionnaires' Disease Bacterium. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 13:78-80.
- 195. Thorpe, T. C. and R. D. Miller. 1981. Extracellular Enzymes of Legionella pneumophila. Infect. Immun. 33:632-635.
- 196. Thorpe, T. C. and R. D. Miller. 1984. Characterization of an Extracellular Hemolysin from Legionella pneumophila, p. 97-98. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jakubowski (ed.), Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium, American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- 197. Tobin, J. O. H., J. Beare, M. S. Dunnill, S. Fisher-Hoch, M. French and R. M. Mitchell. 1980. Legionnaires' Disease in a Transplant Unit: Isolation of the Causative Agent from Shower Baths. Lancet <u>2</u>: 118-121.
- 198. Tokunaga, M., H. Tokunaga, Y. Okajima and T. Nakae. 1979. Characterization of Porins from the Outer Membrane of <u>Salmonella typhimurium</u>. 2. Physical Properties of the Functional Oligomeric Aggregates. Eur. J. Biochem. 95:441-448.
- 199. Tsai, T. F., D. R. Finn, B. D. Plikaytis, W. McCauley, S. M. Martin and D. W. Fraser. 1979. Legionnaires' Disease: Clinical Features of the Epidemic in Philadelphia. Ann. Intern. Medi. <u>90</u>:509-517.

- 200. Turner, J. C., H. M. Anderson and C. P. Gandal. 1958. Species Differences in Red Blood Cell Phosphatides Separated by Column and Paper Chromatography. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 30:130-134.
- 201. Vailde, J. L., E. Dournon, A., Bure, M. E. Meyohas and P. Rajagopalan. 1984. Interaction between <u>Legionella pneumophila</u> and Human Monocytes Derived Macrophages, p. 177-178. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jakubowski (ed.), Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- 202. Verstreate, D. R., M. T. Creasy, N. T. Caveney, C. L. Baldwin and A. J. Winter. 1982. Outer Membrane Proteins of Brucella abortus: Isolation and Characterization. Infect. Immun. <u>35</u>:979-989.
- 203. Ward, P. A. 1979. Immunology and Immunopathology of Legionnaires' Disease. Ann. Intern. Med. <u>90</u>:506-508.
- 204. Warren, W. J. and R. D. Miller. 1979. Growth of Legionnaires' Disease Bacterium (Legionella pneumophila) in Chemically Defined Medium. J. Clin. Microbiol. 10:50-55.
- 205. Watkins, I. D. and J. O. H. Tobin. 1984. Studies with Monoclonal Antibodies to Legionella Species, p. 259-262. In C. Thornsberry, A. Balows, J. C. Feeley and W. Jakubowski (ed.), Legionella: Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- 206. Weber, K. and M. Osborn. 1975. Proteins and Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate: Molecular Weight Determination on Polyacrylamide Gels and Related Procedures, p. 180-221. In H. Neurath, R. L. Hill and C. L. Boeder (ed.), The Proteins (3rd ed.), Vol. 1. Academic Press, New York.
- 207. Weinstein, L. and M. N. Swartz. 1979. Pathogenic Properties of Invading Microorganism, p. 528-544. In W. A. Sodeman, Jr., and T. M. Sodeman (ed.), Mechanisms of Disease. W. B. Saunders Company, Philadelphia.
- 208. Weir, D. M. 1973. Handbook of Immunology. Blackwell Scientific Publication, Oxford, England, p. A2.1-A2.14.

- 209. Westphal, O., O. Luderritz and F. Bister. 1952. Uber die Extraction von Backterien mit Phenol/Wasser. Z. Naturforsch. 7B:148-155.
- 210. Wilkinson, H. W., D. D. Cruce and C. U. Broome. 1981. Validation of <u>Legionella pneumophila</u> Indirect Immunofluorescence Assay with Epidemic Sera. J. Clin. Microbiol. 13:139-146.
- 211. Wilkinson, H. W., B. J. Fikes and D. D. Cruce. 1979. Indirect Immunofluorescence Test for Seriodiagnosis of Legionnaires' Disease: Evidence for Serogroup Diversity of Legionnaires' Disease Bacterial Antigens for Multiple Specificity of Human Antibodies. J. Clin. Microbiol. 9:379-383.
- 212. Winn, W. C., Jr. and F. W. Chandler. 1982. Role of Virulence Factors in Legionella Infection (Editorial). Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med. <u>106</u>:105-107.
- 213. Winn, W. C., Jr. and R. L. Myerowitz. 1981. The Pathology of the Legionella pneumophila. Human Pathol. 12:401-422.
- 214. Winn, W. C., Jr., A. L. Frederick, D. P. Perl and J. E. Craighead. 1979. Microscopic Pathology of the Lung in Legionnaires' Disease. Ann. Intern. Med. 90:548-551.
- 215. Winn, W. C., Jr., F. L. Glavin, D. P. Perl, J. L. Keller, J. L. Andres, T. M. Brown, C. M. Coffin, J. E. Sensecqua, L. N. Roman and J. E. Craighead. 1978. The Pathology of Legionnaires' Disease: Fourteen Fatal Cases from the 1977 Outbreak in Vermont. Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med. 102:344-350.
- 216. Winn, W. C., Jr. and A. W. Pasculle. 1982. Laboratory Diagnosis of Infections Caused by Legionella Species. Clin. Lab. Med. 2:343-360.
- 217. Winn, W. C., Jr. G. S. David, D. W. Gump, J. E. Craighead and H. N. Beaty. 1982. Legionnaires' Pneumonia after Intratracheal Inoculation of Guinea Pigs and Rats. Lab Invet. <u>47</u>:568-578.
- 218. Wong, K. H., C. W. Moss, D. H. Hochstein, R. J. Arko and W. O. Schalla. 1979. "Endotoxicity" of the Legionnaires' Disease Bacterium. Ann. Intern. Med. <u>90</u>:624-627.

- 219. Wong, K. H., O. Barrera, A. Sutton, J. May, D. H. Hochstein, J. D. Robbins, P. D. Parkman and E. B. Seligmann, Jr. 1979. Standardization and Control of Meningococcal Vaccines, Group A and Group C Polysaccharides. J. Biol. Stand. 5:193-215.
- 220. Wong, K. H., C. E. Miller, J. C. Feeley and Y. K. Chan. 1973. Determination of Endotoxicity in Bacterial Vaccines. Appl. Microbiol. 25:403-407.
- 221. Wong, K. H., W. O. Schalla, R. J. Arko, J. C. Bullard and J. C. Feeley. 1979. Immunochemical Serological and Immunological Properties of Major Antigens Isolated from the Legionnaires' Disease Bacterium. Observations Bearing on the Feasibility of a Vaccine. Ann. Intern. Med. 90:634-638.
- 222. Wong, K. H., P. R. B. McMaster, J. C. Feeley, R. J. Arko, W. O. Schalla and F. W. Chandler. 1980. Detection of Hypersensitivity to Legionella pneumophila in Guinea Pigs by Skin Test. Curr. Microbiol. 4:105-110.
- 223. Wong, K. H., W. O. Schalla, M. C. Wong, P. R. B. McMaster, J. C. Feeley and R. J. Arko. 1982. Biologic Activities of Antigens from Legionella <u>pneumophila</u>, p. 434-443. In J. Robbins, J. Hill and J. Sadoff (ed.). Bacterial Vaccines. Thieme-Stratton, Inc., New York.
- 224. Yoshimura, F., Zalman, L. S. and Nikaido, H. 1983. Purification and Properties of <u>Ps. aerouginosa</u> Porin. J. Biol. Chem. 258:2308-2314.
- 225. Yu, E. and S. Mizushima. 1977. Stimulation by Lipopolysaccharide of the Binding of Outer Membrane Proteins O-8 and O-9 to the Peptidoglycan Layer of <u>Escherichia coli</u> K-12. Biochim. Biophys. Res. <u>Commun. 74:1397-1402.</u>